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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Gulf International 
Services Q.P.S.C. 
 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Our opinion  
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of Gulf International Services Q.P.S.C. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the 
“Group”) as at 31 December 2023 and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards. 
 
What we have audited 
 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise: 
• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023; 
• the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended; 
• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 
• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;  
• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and 

other explanatory information. 
 

Basis for opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements section of our report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  
 
Independence 
 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in the State of Qatar. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with IESBA Code and the ethical requirements in the State of Qatar. 
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Our audit approach 
 
Overview 
 

Key Audit Matters • Accounting for the Amwaj Catering Services Limited (Amwaj) transaction 
• Valuation of insurance contract assets and liabilities 

• Impairment of rigs 

 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in 
the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where the Directors made subjective 
judgements; for example, in respect of material accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and 
considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of 
management override of internal controls, including among other matters consideration of whether there was 
evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 
 

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting 
processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates. 
 

Key audit matters 
 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the Key audit matters 

Accounting for the Amwaj Catering Services Limited (Amwaj) transaction 

 
On 16 October 2023, one of the subsidiaries of the 
Group namely Amwaj Catering Services Limited 
(“Amwaj"), which represents the Group’s catering 
segment, acquired 100% of the shares of selected 
entities of Shaqab Abela Catering W.L.L. and Atyab 
Fruits and Vegetables W.L.L groups. 
Simultaneously the Group transferred 35.7% of its 
ownership in Amwaj Catering Services to Tamween 
Capital, and 34.3% to Abela Qatar International 
(“AQI”). 
 
This acquisition resulted in the deconsolidation of 
Amwaj which has been shown in these consolidated 
financial statements as discontinued operations 
and the recognition of the retained interest as 
investment in an equity accounted investee with 
effective ownership of 30%. 
 
The fair value of the retained interest was QR 345 
million and carrying amount of the net assets 
deconsolidated amounted to QR 371 million 
resulting in a loss on deconsolidation of QR 26 
million. Notional goodwill of QR 294 million was 
recognised as part of the transaction. 
 
As required by IAS 28 'Investments in associates 
and joint ventures' a notional purchase price 
allocation (NPPA) was undertaken in accordance 
with IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations’ to account for 
this transaction. This required management to 

 
Our procedures included the following: 
 

• We read the merger and related agreements 

and assessed the appropriateness of the 

transaction date being the date the Group 

lost control over Amwaj; 

• We evaluated the methodology adopted by 

management for the valuation of the fair 

value of the retained interest in Amwaj. We 

also assessed the key valuation assumptions 

used; 

• We assessed the competency, objectivity 

and independence of the external valuers 

engaged by the Group. We also obtained the 

valuation reports and discussed these with 

the external valuers regarding the 

methodologies and key assumptions used; 

• With input from our internal valuation 

experts (where considered necessary), we 

performed the following procedures, in 

relation to the fair value of the retained 

interest and the fair values of the 

identifiable net assets that formed part of 

the notional purchase price allocation, as 

deemed appropriate; 
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the Key audit matters 

make significant estimates as part of determining 
the fair values of the identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed. 
 
The Group engaged independent valuers in order to 
determine the fair value of the retained interest and 
the fair values that formed part of the notional 
purchase price allocation. 
 
We considered this to be a matter of most 
significance to the current year's audit given the 
significant estimates involved in determining the 
fair value of the retained interest and the fair values 
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. 
 
Refer to the following notes to the consolidated 
financial statements for detail: 
 
• Note 7: Discontinued operations; and 
• Note 10: Equity accounted investees. 
 

- Considered the appropriateness of the 

methodology and assumptions used in 

determining the fair values based on the 

applicable financial reporting 

requirements and established market 

practice; 

- Compared certain key unobservable 

inputs underlying the fair values to 

supporting documentation such as 

approved financial plans; 

-  Tested on a sample basis input data 

supporting the calculation of intangible 

assets recognised; and 

- Evaluated the reasonableness of the 

resulting fair values based on 

comparable market data. 

• We considered the appropriateness of the 
related accounting policies and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. 

Valuation of insurance contract assets and liabilities 

 
Valuation of liability for incurred claims - Best 
estimate liability and Risk adjustment  
 
The valuation of the liability for incurred claims 
(LIC) under IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’ is a key 
judgemental area for management as it requires the 
use of complex actuarial methods and models, 
mainly, for the calculation of Incurred But Not 
Reported (IBNR) reserves, significant management 
judgements and actuarial assumptions with 
regards to the fulfilment cash flows. 
 
• Complex actuarial methods are specifically 

needed to estimate contractual cash flows, in 
particular ultimate claim expectations and 
claim development patterns.   

• Key judgements and assumptions include the 
approaches used to determine the time value 
of money and the technique used to determine 
the risk adjustment for non-financial risks and 
the determination of the discount rate that 
reflects the characteristics of the cash flows 
and liquidity characteristics of the insurance 
contracts requires significant judgement and 
estimation. The risk adjustment, which reflects 
the compensation the Group requires for 
bearing uncertainty about the amount and 
timing of the cash flows, is determined using 
complex actuarial models and other factors 
derived from regulatory requirements. 

 
Our procedures for the valuation of liability for 
incurred claims included the following:  
 

• Understood and evaluated management’s 

process for the valuation of outstanding 

claims and IBNR; 

• We tested the completeness of input data 

used for the measurement of LIC at 

transition date and for each of the 

subsequent reporting periods; 

• On a sample basis, tested the accuracy of 

input data used for the measurement of LIC 

at the transition date and for each of the 

subsequent reporting periods; 

• We obtained from management's external 

independent consultants the IBNR 

estimation and the supporting judgements 

and assumptions; 

• We involved our actuarial specialists in: 

- evaluating the methodology and 

assumptions related to the best 

estimate liability (IBNR), risk 

adjustment, and discounting against the 

requirements of the IFRS 17 standard 

("the Standard") at the transition date 

(31 December 2021) and each of the 

subsequent reporting periods (31 

December 2022 and 2023);  
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the Key audit matters 

Therefore, the ultimate amount of claims, could 
vary materially from the best estimate liability due 
to the uncertainty surrounding the amount and 
timing, frequency, and severity of claims and the 
difficulty in projecting reserves subject to 
inflationary pressures.  
 
As at 31 December 2023, the LIC amounted to QR 
1,013 million. Refer to Notes 3 and 25 to the 
consolidated financial statements for the 
accounting policy, judgements and estimates and 
other information related to the measurement of 
LIC. 
 
Valuation of liability for remaining coverage  
 
PAA eligibility at transition date  
 
The Premium Allocation Approach (PAA) is a 
simplified approach for the measurement of the 
liability for remaining coverage (LRC) that the 
Group may choose to use when the PAA provides a 
measurement which is not materially different 
from that under the general measurement 
approach for contracts with a coverage period of 
more than one year (PAA eligibility test). 
Significant judgement is required by management 
to determine the reasonable expectation that the 
measurement under PAA will not materially differ 
than that of the General Measurement Model 
(GMM). 
 
Some contracts issued by the Group have a 
coverage period of more than one year but, based 
on management's judgements, these contracts 
passed the PAA eligibility test at initial recognition. 
Management performed a quantitative assessment 
for the PAA eligibility at the IFRS 17 transition date 
and continued to measure the liability at 
subsequent measurement dates using the PAA. 
  
Loss component  
 
The LRC is increased if a group of contracts is 
onerous at initial recognition, or subsequently 
becomes onerous.  
 
The Group calculates the loss component of the 
LRC measured under the PAA approach with 
reference to the general measurement model LRC 
projection. This requires complex actuarial 
calculations and significant inputs and 
assumptions (such as claims assumptions, expense 
assumptions and claims payment patterns).  
 
As at 31 December 2023, the liability for remaining 
coverage amounted to QR 239 million. Refer to 
Notes 3 and 25 to the consolidated financial 

- reperforming, on a sample basis, an 

independent estimation of IBNR for the 

material lines of business; 

- determining an independent reasonable 

range for the computation of the RA 

using the Group’s data;  

- testing the movement disclosure 

required by the Standard; and 

- performed independent overall 

analytical procedures on LIC balances. 

 
Our procedures for the valuation of LRC included 
the following: 
 
PAA eligibility at transition date 
 
• We obtained from management's the PAA 

eligibility testing framework as well as their 
qualitative and quantitative assessments at 
transition date and their qualitative 
assessments for the subsequent reporting 
periods (i.e. 2022 and 2023); 

• We involved our actuarial specialists in: 

- Evaluating management’s PAA eligibility 
testing framework and interpretation and 
application against the requirements of the 
Standard; 

- performing independent quantitative testing 
for PAA eligibility, for a sample of the groups 
not automatically eligible, as at the transition 
date; 

- for the subsequent periods, reviewing 
management's qualitative assessment for 
PAA eligibility and, on a sample basis, 
performing independent re-computations to 
confirm PAA eligibility remains unchanged. 

 
Our audit procedures for the loss component 
included the following: 
 
• Obtained from management's consultants the 

methodology used for the calculation of the 
Loss Component ("LC");  

• Involved our actuarial specialists in: 
 

- evaluating the methodology used against the 
requirements of the Standard; 

- evaluating significant assumptions used in 
the calculation (i.e. claims ratios, expense 
ratios);  
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the Key audit matters 

statements for the accounting policy, judgements 
and estimates and other information related to the 
measurement of LRC.  
 

We considered these to be matters of most 
significance to the current year's audit given the 
significant estimates involved in determining the 
material insurance contract assets and liabilities 
and due to the fact that the calculation 
methodologies have significantly changed from 
prior year as this is the first year of application of 
IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’. 
 

- performing an independent calculation of 
the LC to determine whether the amounts 
recorded by management fall within a 
reasonable range from our independent 
expectation. 

Impairment of rigs    

The Group’s assets include property and equipment 
at the reporting date with a carrying value of QR 
5,507 million. Out of this, property and equipment 
related to the drilling segment amounted to QR. 
4,259 million. International Accounting Standard 
(IAS) 36 'Impairment of Assets' requires these 
assets to be assessed for impairment where 
indicators of impairment are present.  
 
Given the cyclical nature of the oil and gas business, 
there is a potential risk that these assets may not 
generate cash inflows in line with expectations and 
forecasts, resulting in an impairment. The Group’s 
assessment of the value in use (“ViU”) of its cash 
generating units (“CGUs”) involves estimation 
about the future performance of the respective 
businesses. In particular, the determination of the 
ViU is sensitive to the significant assumptions of 
future day rates and discount rates. As a result of 
the impairment tests performed, no impairment 
was recognised during the year ended 31 December 
2023.  
  
We considered the Group’s impairment assessment 
to be a matter of most significance to the current 
year audit due to the significant judgements and 
assumptions made by management in performing 
the impairment assessment.  
  
Refer to the following notes to the consolidated 
financial statements for further details:  
  
Note 2.4: Use of judgements and estimates;  
Note 6: Property and equipment. 

Out audit procedures included the following:  
 

• We obtained an understanding of the business 
process related to impairment; 

• We reviewed the group assessment to identify 
if there is any impairment trigger; 

• We obtained the valuation model and tested 
the mathematical accuracy of the model used 
by management. We also assessed the 
appropriateness of the valuation methodology 
(discounted cash flows model) applied by 
management, with reference to market 
practice and the requirements of IAS 36; 

• We assessed the reliability of the Group’s 
budgets included in the business plans (which 
form the basis of the cash flow forecasts), by 
comparing current period budgets to actual 
results and evaluating differences noted 
against underlying documentation and 
explanations obtained from management. We 
also agreed revenue and costs used to calculate 
cash flow forecasts to approved budgets and/or 
business plans and benchmarking of day rate 

assumptions to market data; 

• We utilised our internal valuation specialists to 

support us in assessing the assumptions and 

methodology used by management, and in 

particular, they independently calculated the 

weighted average cost of capital;  

• We performed sensitivity analysis to determine 

the changes in key assumptions, namely, 

discount rates and day rates that would result in 

an impairment. We considered whether such 

changes were reasonably likely; 

• We also assessed the adequacy of the related 

disclosures provided in Note 6 to the 

consolidated financial statements, in particular 

the sensitivity disclosures in relation to 

reasonably possible changes in assumptions that 

could result in impairment.  
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Other information 
 
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Board of 
Directors’ Report (but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the complete Annual Report, which 
is expected to be made available to us after that date. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and 
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed, on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
When we read the complete Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we 
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 
 

Responsibilities of the Directors and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements 
 
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and with the requirements of the Qatar Commercial 
Companies Law number 11 of 2015, as amended by Law number 8 of 2021 and for such internal control as the 
Directors determine necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.  
 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group's internal control. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the Directors.  
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.   
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes  
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

Further, as required by the Qatar Commercial Companies Law number 11 of 2015, as amended by Law 
number 8 of 2021 we report that: 

• We have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit;

• The Company has carried out a physical verification of inventories at the year-end in accordance with
observed principles;

• The Company has maintained proper books of account and the consolidated financial statements are in
agreement therewith;

• The financial information included in the Board of Directors' report is in agreement with the books and
records of the Company; and

• Nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to believe that the Company has breached any of the
provisions of the Qatar Commercial Companies Law number 11 of 2015, as amended by Law number 8 of
2021 or of its Articles of Association, which would materially affect the reported results of its operations
or its consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2023.

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers – Qatar Branch 

Qatar Financial Market Authority registration number 120155 

Mark Menton 

Auditor’s registration number 364 
Doha, State of Qatar 
14 February 2024 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Note 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 1 January 2022 
(Restated)* (Restated)* 

Assets 

Non-current assets 

Property and equipment 6 5,506,609 5,560,956 5,591,281 

Goodwill 7 -   303,559 303,559 

Right-of-use assets 8 28,386 49,571 65,664 

Contract assets 13 13,104 13,104 9,464 

Equity-accounted investees 10 390,052 28,088 12,078 

Financial assets at FVTOCI 11 367,949 306,592 418,658 

        6,306,100 6,261,870 6,400,704 

Current assets 

Inventories 12    440,351 393,170 284,088 

Financial assets at FVTPL 11 469,342 438,185 420,689 

Trade and other receivables 13 870,544 1,029,173 1,008,798 

Other assets 18 149,616 120,833 102,859 

Reinsurance contract assets 25.2.1 775,666 668,446 677,901 

Short-term investments 14 718,793 746,126 348,632 

Other bank balances 15.1 47,079 48,619 48,619 

Cash and cash equivalents 15 530,107 347,828 300,788 

         4,001,498 3,792,380  3,192,374 

Total assets        10,307,598 10,054,250  9,593,078 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Equity 

Share capital 16 1,858,409 1,858,409 1,858,409 

Legal reserve 17(a) 394,367 384,339 377,308 

General reserve 17(b) 74,516 74,516 74,516 

Translation reserve 17(c) (23,118)       (25,961)      (54,719) 

Fair value reserve 17(d) (18,409)      (27,646) 3,786 

Retained earnings 1,551,370 1,365,244 1,077,214 

Equity attributable to shareholders of 
the company 3,837,135 3,628,901  3,336,514 

Non-controlling interests (482)            (312)  (198) 

Total equity 3,836,653 3,628,589  3,336,316 

The consolidated statement of financial position continues on the next page. 

*Refer to Note 37 regarding details of the restatements
Independent auditor’s report is set out in pages 1 to 8.
The attached notes from 1 to 37 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(All amounts are expressed in Qatari Riyals 'ooo unless otherwise stated) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED) 

Note 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 
(Restated)* 

LIABILITIES 
Non-current liabilities 
Lease liabilities 9 23,135 7,432 
Loans and borrowings 19 4,138,728 2,633,625 
Contract liabilities 2,730 2,730 
Deferred tax liabilities 14,672 19,629 
Provision for decommissioning costs 20 45,899 
Provision for em2loyees' end of service benefits 21 80,668 112,028 

4,259,933 2,821,343 

Current liabilities 
Lease liabilities 9 5,250 33,939 
Dividends payable 23 47,079 48,619 
Loans and borrowings 19 268,102 1,734,430 
Trade and other payables 22 638,705 693,035 
Insurance contract liabilities 25.2.2 1,251,876 1,079,705 
Contract liabilities 14,590 

2,211,012 3,604,318 
Total liabilities 6,470,945 6,425,661 
Total egui� and liabilities 10,307,598 10,054,250 

1 January 2022 
(Restated)* 

15,947 
3,692,705 

1,820 
10,796 
45,669 

101,259 
3,868,196 

28,868 
50,429 

674,156 
602,948 

1,028,718 
3,447 

2,388,566 
6,256,762 
9,593,078 

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company and signed on its 
behalf by the following on 14 February 2024: 

Khalid Bin Khalifa Al-Thani 
Chairman 

Saad R°ashid Al-Muhannadi 
Vice Chairman 

*Refer to Note 37 regarding details of the restatements
Independent auditor's report is set out in pages 1 to 8.
The attached notes from 1 to 37 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 

Note 2023 2022 

(Restated)* 

Continuing operations 

Revenue 25.1 2,364,591 2,145,788 

Cost of sales 26           (1,762,784) (1,634,852) 

Gross profit from non-insurance operations 601,807 510,936 

Insurance revenue 25.2.2 1,173,899   887,784 

Insurance service expense 25.2.2 (886,893)     (660,689) 

Net expense from reinsurance contracts held 25.2.1 (216,850)    (121,284) 

Insurance service result 70,156 105,811 

Gross profit and net insurance service results 671,963 616,747 

Finance (expense)/income from insurance contracts issued (44,914)       7,338 

Finance income/(expense) from reinsurance contracts held 54,797 (18,500) 

Net insurance finance income / (expense)  9,883 (11,162) 

Other income 27 47,263      27,403 

Other gains/(losses) – net 28 (19,263) (26,252) 

General and administrative expenses 29  (192,548) (166,113) 

Net gains on investments in debt securities measured at FVOCI 
   reclassified to profit or loss on disposal - 3,529 

Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at FVTPL 21,928 (25,897) 

Net monetary (loss) / gain arising from hyperinflation (2,924) 20,760 

Net impairment (loss) / reversal on financial assets 13         (1,341) 3,353 

Operating profit 534,961 442,368 

Finance income 34.1 70,436 35,817 

Finance costs 34.2 (205,262) (180,376) 

Finance costs – Net (134,826) (144,559) 

Share of net profits of equity accounted investees 24,798       17,577 

Profit before income tax 424,933 315,386 

Income tax expense 30 (9,081) (13,914) 

Profit for the year from continuing operation 415,852 301,472 

(Loss) / Profit from discontinued operation (attributable to the 
   shareholders of the Company) 7 (24,237) 726 

Profit for the year 391,615 302,198 

Profit for the year attributable to: 
Shareholders of the Company 391,785     302,312 
Non-controlling interests (170)  (114) 

391,615 302,198 

Earnings per share 

Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations   
attributable to shareholders of the Company 0.224 0.163 

Basic and diluted earnings per share from discontinued 
operations   attributable to shareholders of the Company (0.013) (0.000) 

Basic and diluted earnings per share from profit attributable to 
   shareholders of the Company 31 0.211 0.163 

*Refer to Note 37 regarding details of the restatements
Independent auditor’s report is set out in pages 1 to 8.
The attached notes from 1 to 37 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(CONTINUED) 
For the year ended 31 December 

Note 2023 2022 
(Restated)* 

Other comprehensive income 

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss 
Changes in the fair value of debt instruments at fair value 

through other comprehensive income 9,237 (27,903) 

Net instruments at FVOCI reclassified to profit or loss - (3,529) 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 
including effect of hyperinflation 2,843 28,759 

Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 12,080 (2,673) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 403,695 299,525 

Total comprehensive income for the period 
attributable to: 

Shareholders of the Company 403,865    299,639 

Non-controlling interests  (170)           (114) 

403,695 299,525 

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to 
shareholders of the Company arises from: 

Continuing operations 427,932 298,799 

Discontinued operations  (24,237) 726 

403,695 299,525 

*Refer to Note 37 regarding details of the restatements
Independent auditor’s report is set out in pages 1 to 8.
The attached notes from 1 to 37 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 31 December 

Attributable to owners of the Company 

Non 
controlling 

interests 
Total 

equity 
Share 
capital 

Legal 
reserve 

General 
reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Fair value 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings Total 

Balance at 1 January 2022 
(previously reported) 1,858,409 377,308 74,516 (55,836) 3,786 998,204 3,256,387 (198) 3,256,189 

Impact on the initial application of 
IFRS 17 (Note 5) - - - - - 61,551 61,551 - 61,551 

Restatements (Note 37) - - - 1,117 - 17,459 18,576 - 18,576 

Balance at 1 January 2022 
(restated*) 1,858,409 377,308 74,516 (54,719) 3,786 1,077,214 3,336,514 (198) 3,336,316 

Total comprehensive income: 
Profit for the year - - - - - 302,312 302,312 (114) 302,198 

Other comprehensive loss - - - 28,758 (31,432) - (2,674) - (2,674) 

Total comprehensive income / 
(loss) for  the year - - - 28,758 (31,432) 302,312 299,638 (114) 299,524 

Social fund contribution (Note 22) - - - - - (7,251) (7,251) - (7,251)

Transfer to legal reserve - 7,031 - - - (7,031) - - - 

Balance at 31 December 2022 
(restated) 1,858,409 384,339 74,516 (25,961) (27,646) 1,365,244 3,628,901 (312) 3,628,589 

Balance at 1 January 2023 1,858,409 384,339 74,516 (25,961) (27,646) 1,365,244 3,628,901 (312) 3,628,589

Total comprehensive income: 
Profit for the year - - - - - 391,785 391,785 (170) 391,615

Other comprehensive income - - - 2,843 9,237 - 12,080 - 12,080

Total comprehensive income for 
   the year  -   -    -   2,843 9,237 391,785 403,865 (170) 403,695

Social fund contribution (Note 22) - - - - - (9,790) (9,790) (9,790) 

Transfer to legal reserve - 10,028 - - - (10,028) - - - 

Transactions with shareholders of 
the Company: 
Dividends declared - - - - - (185,841)  (185,841) - (185,841) 

Balance at 31 December 2023 1,858,409 394,367 74,516 (23,118)           (18,409) 1,551,370 3,837,135 (482) 3,836,653

Independent auditor’s report is set out in pages 1 to 8 
The attached notes from 1 to 37 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 31 December 

Note 2023 2022 
(Restated)* 

Cash flows from operating activities 

(Loss) / profit before income tax 

Continuing operations   424,933 315,386 

Discontinued operations (24,237) 726 

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation of property and equipment 6 351,238 347,473 

Impairment loss on property and equipment 6 7,316 2,202 

Loss on sale and write-off of property and equipment 4,009 1,053 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8 13,701 31,166 

Share of profit of equity-accounted investees (24,798) (17,577) 

Loss from the disposal of a subsidiary 7 26,279 - 

Write-down of inventories due to slow-moving and obsolete stock 763 1,554 

Net impairment loss / (reversal) on financial assets 13 1,341  (3,353) 

Provision for employees' end of service benefits 21 16,236  24,625 

Net (loss) / gain in fair value of financial investments at FVTPL (21,928) 25,897 

Net gain from sale of financial investments (313) (3,529)

Profit distribution from managed investment funds 27 (1,655) (3,652)

Dividend income 27 (4,928) (3,543)

Income tax benefit recognized pursuant to MOU 27 (5,723) (5,688)

Finance income 34.1 (70,436) (35,817)

Finance costs - leases 34.2 202 535 

Finance costs – loans and borrowings  211,709 185,331 

Finance costs – decommissioning  20 180 230 

Net monetary gain arising from hyperinflation 2,924 (20,759) 

Operating profit before working capital changes 906,813 842,260 

Working capital changes: 

(Increase) in inventories (61,712) (107,528) 

(Increase) in other assets (28,783) (17,974) 

decrease / (increase) in trade and other receivables  27,118 (17,022) 

(Increase) / decrease in reinsurance contract assets (107,220) 9,455 

Increase in trade and other payables 79,620 71,503 

Increase in insurance contract liabilities 172,171 50,987 

Increase in contract liabilities (14,590) 11,143 

Cash flows generated from operating activities 973,417 842,824 

Social and sports contribution paid (7,251) (1,351) 

Employees' end of service benefits paid 21 (15,571) (13,856) 

Net cash flows generated from operating activities 950,595 827,617 

Investing activities 

Acquisition of property and equipment 6  (333,300) (275,987) 

Acquisition of financial investments (62,883) (306,881) 

Net movement in short-term investments  27,333 (397,494) 

Finance income received 63,203  35,794 

Proceeds from sale and maturity of financial investments  15,051  352,203 

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment - 1,228 

Profit distribution from managed investment funds 27 1,655 3,652 

Proceeds from sale of a joint venture  3,537 - 

Amwaj’s cash at disposal 7 (127,414) - 

Dividends from equity-accounted investee 10 3,920 1,567 

Dividends received 1,691 3,543 

Net cash used in investing activities (407,207) (582,375) 

The consolidated statement of cash flows continues on the next page.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) 

Note 2023 2022 

(Restated)* 

Financing activities 
Principal elements of lease payments (5,951) (19,513) 

Proceeds from loans and borrowings 20,440 106,288 

Repayment of loans and borrowings (3,872) (143,323) 

Dividends paid to unclaimed dividends account (185,841) (1,810) 

Finance costs paid - leases (202) (535) 

Finance costs paid – loans and borrowings  (189,502) (141,936) 

Net cash flows used in financing activities (364,928) (200,829) 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 178,460 44,413 

Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held 3,819 2,627 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 347,828 300,788 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 15 530,107 347,828 

Non-cash investing additions relating to right of use assets excluded from the cashflows amounted to QR 28 million 
(2022: QR 15 million). Other non-cash investing activities relate to the disposal of Amwaj, refer to Note 7. 

Cashflows relating to discontinued operations are presented in Note 7. 

*Refer to Note 37
Independent auditor’s report is set out in pages 1 to 8.
The attached notes from 1 to 37 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. REPORTING ENTITY

Gulf International Services Q.P.S.C. (the "Group") is a Company incorporated on 13 February 2008 in the State of Qatar 
under the commercial registration number 38200 as a Qatari Shareholding Company. The principal activity of the Group 
is to operate as a holding company. As per the Extra Ordinary General Assembly Resolution and in accordance with the 
new Qatar Commercial Companies Law No 11 of 2015, as amended by Law No. 8 of 2021, the legal form of the Company 
has been changed to Qatari Public Shareholding Company (Q.P.S.C.) in 2018. The registered office of the Group is situated 
in Doha, State of Qatar.  

These consolidated financial statements comprise of the Group and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 'Group'). 
The Group is primarily involved in provision of drilling, aviation, insurance and reinsurance and catering services. The 
provision of catering services was discontinued on 16 October 2023 (refer to Note 7). 

On 26 May 2008, Qatar Energy listed 70% of the Group's issued share capital on Qatar Exchange. An extraordinary general 
assembly held on 4 November 2012 approved the amendments to the Articles of Association in which it increased the 
ownership limit of General Retirement and Social Insurance Authority ("GRSIA"). Subsequently, as per the instructions of 
the Supreme Council of Economic Affairs, Qatar Energy divested 20% of its stake in the Group to GRSIA.  

These consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and below stated unlisted wholly 
owned direct subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting date: 

Shareholding 
Country of 
incorporati

on 

Segment 

2023 2022 

Name of the company 
Al Koot Insurance & Reinsurance Company P.J.S.C. Qatar Insurance 100% 100% 
Gulf Helicopters Company (Qatari Private Shareholding 

Company) Qatar 
Aviation 

100% 100% 
Gulf Drilling International Limited (Qatari Private 

Shareholding Company) Qatar 
Drilling 

100% 100% 
Amwaj Catering Service* Qatar Discontinued 30% 100% 

*During the year, the group deconsolidated Amwaj Catering which was previously wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.
The details of the transaction are disclosed in Note 7.

These consolidated financial statements fully consolidate indirect subsidiaries held through above subsidiaries on a line-
by-line basis and also include the share of profit/ loss and other comprehensive income from equity accounted investees: 

Beneficial ownership interest 

Entity Relationship 
Country of 

incorporation 

31 December 
2023 

31 December 
2022 

Amwaj Catering Services 1 Qatar 30% 100% 
Gulfdrill L.L.C. 1 Qatar 50% 50% 
Air Ocean Maroc 1 Morocco 49% 49% 
Gulf Med Aviation Services Limited 1 Malta - 49% 
United Helicharters Private Limited 2 India 90% 90% 
Al Maha Aviation Company 2 Libya 100% 100% 
Redstar Havacilik Hizmetleri A.S. 2 Turkey 100% 100% 
Gulf Helicopters Investment & Leasing 

Company 
2 Morocco 

100% 100% 
1 Equity accounted investee 
2 indirect subsidiary 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in 
line with those used by the Group. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses were eliminated on 
consolidation. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 

2.1 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS Accounting Standards as issued 
by International Accounting Standard Board (IASB). 
 

2.2 BASIS OF MEASUREMENT 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the following: 
 

• Equity instruments classified as Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (“FVTOCI”) and Fair Value 
Through Profit and Loss (“FVTPL”), are measured at fair value;  

• Amounts relating to a hyperinflationary economy have been adjusted to reflect the effects of hyperinflation to 
express the financial statements in terms of the monetary unit current at the end of the reporting date as required 
by IAS 29.  

2.3 FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATIONAL CURRENCY 
 
(i) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). 
 
(ii) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the 
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates, are generally 
recognised in profit or loss.  

 
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of profit or loss, within finance 
costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis within other 
gains/(losses).  

 
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported 
as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as 
equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss, and 
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as at fair value through other comprehensive 
income are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
Management have restated the consolidated financial statements relating to the accounting of hyperinflation. Refer to Note 
37 for more details. 
 

2.4 USE OF JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements and estimates that affect the 
application of the Group's accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.  
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised 
prospectively.  
 
Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements are described as 
follows: 

 
Judgements 
 
The Group applies significant judgment to determine the functional currency of one of its subsidiaries which operates in 
Turkey (Redstar Havacilik Hizmetleri A.S). In its judgment, the Group considers the currency of the country whose 
competitive forces and regulations mainly determine the sales prices of its goods and services and the currency that mainly 
influences labour, material and other costs of providing goods or services. This along with other factors as specified in IAS 
21- The Effects of Change in Foreign Currency Rates-.  
 
The Group has concluded based on its assessment that Turkish Lira is the functional currency of its subsidiary Redstar 
Havacilik Hizmetleri A.S. 
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2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 
 
2.4 USE OF JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED) 
 
Estimates and assumptions 
 
Fair value of retained interest 
 

During the year the Group disposed 70% interest in one of its Subsidiaries representing the catering segment and retained 
the remaining 30% which has been recognised at fair value.  
 

The Group applied judgment with the support of an independent valuer in order to determine the fair values of the 
combining entities and the fair values that formed part of the notional purchase price allocation using discounted cashflows 
(Note 7). 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets - Rigs 
 

The Group is required to undertake an test for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Impairment testing is an area involving management judgment, requiring 
assessment as to whether the carrying value of assets can be supported by the net present value of future cash flows derived 
from such assets using cash flow projections which have been discounted at an appropriate rate. In calculating the net 
present value of the future cash flows, certain assumptions are required to be made in respect of highly uncertain matters, 
including management's expectations of: 

- Revenue growth rates;   
-     Cost inflation; 
-  long term growth rates range during discrete period and terminal period;  
-  the selection of discount rates to reflect the risks involved.  

 

The recoverable amount is most sensitive to revenue growth assumption for certain rigs and the discount rate used for the 
discounted cash flow model. 
 

The impairment test requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units which requires the Group to 
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and to choose a suitable discount rate in 
order to calculate the present value of those.  
 
Refer to Note 6 for assumptions used and further details. 
 
Provision for expected credit losses of financial assets  
 

The impairment model under IFRS-9 requires forward looking information, which is based on assumptions for the future 
movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other. It also requires management to assign 
probability of default to various categories of receivables. Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring an 
ECL and entails considerable judgement; it is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the 
calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions. The assumptions used are 
disclosed in Note 5.1. 
 
2.4.1 Significant judgements and estimates in applying IFRS 17 
 
The Group issues insurance contracts that transfer insurance risk. Insurance contracts are those contracts where the 
insurer accepts significant insurance risk from the policyholder by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified 
uncertain future event adversely affects the policyholder. In making this assessment, all substantive rights and obligations, 
including those arising from law or regulation, are considered on a contract-by-contract basis. The Group uses judgement 
to assess whether a contract transfers insurance risk (that is, if there is a scenario with commercial substance in which the 
Group has the possibility of a loss on a present value basis) and whether the accepted insurance risk is significant. 
 
Estimates of future cash flows to fulfil insurance contracts 
In estimating future cash flows, the Group incorporates, in an unbiased way, all reasonable and supportable information 
that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date. This information includes both internal and external 
historical data about claims and other experiences, updated to reflect current expectations of future events. The estimates 
of future cash flows reflect the Group view of current conditions at the reporting date, as long as the estimates of any 
relevant market variables are consistent with observable market prices. 
 
The estimates of these future cash flows are based on probability-weighted expected future cash flows. The Group estimates 
which cash flows are expected and the probability that they will occur as at the measurement date. In making these 
expectations, the Group uses information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future conditions. The 
Group’s estimate of future cash flows is the mean of a range of scenarios that reflect the full range of possible outcomes. 
Each scenario specifies the amount, timing and probability of cash flows. The probability-weighted average of the future 
cash flows is calculated using a deterministic scenario representing the probability-weighted mean of a range of scenarios.  
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2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 
 
2.4.1 Significant judgements and estimates in applying IFRS 17 (continued) 
 
Estimates of future cash flows to fulfil insurance contracts (continued) 
 
When estimating future cash flows, the Group takes into account current expectations of future events that might affect 
those cash flows. However, expectations of future changes in legislation that would change or discharge a present obligation 
or create new obligations under existing contracts are not taken into account until the change in legislation is substantively 
enacted. The Group also derives cost inflation assumptions. Cash flows within the boundary of a contract relate directly to 
the fulfilment of the contract, including those for which the Group has discretion over the amount or timing. These include 
payments to (or on behalf of) policyholders, insurance acquisition cash flows and other costs that are incurred in fulfilling 
contracts.   

 
Insurance acquisition cash flows arise from the activities of selling, underwriting and starting a group of contracts that 
are directly attributable to the portfolio of contracts to which the group belongs. Other costs that are incurred in fulfilling 
the contracts include claims handling, maintenance and administration costs, and recurring commissions payable on 
instalment premiums receivable within the contract boundary. Insurance acquisition cash flows and other costs that are 
incurred in fulfilling contracts comprise both direct costs and an allocation of fixed and variable overheads. Cash flows 
are attributed to acquisition activities, other fulfilment activities and other activities at local entity level using activity-
based costing techniques. Cash flows attributable to acquisition and other fulfilment activities are allocated to groups of 
contracts using methods that are systematic and rational and are consistently applied to all costs that have similar 
characteristics. Other costs are recognised in profit or loss as they are incurred. 
 
Where estimates of expenses-related cash flows are determined at the portfolio level or higher, they are allocated to groups 
of contracts on a systematic basis. The Group has determined that this method results in a systematic and rational 
allocation. Similar methods are consistently applied to allocate expenses of a similar nature. The Group performs regular 
expense studies to determine the extent to which fixed and variable overheads are directly attributable to fulfill the 
insurance contracts. 
 
Risk adjustment  
Because the risk adjustment represents compensation for uncertainty, estimates are made on the degree of diversification 
benefits and expected favourable and unfavourable outcomes in a way that reflects the Group 's degree of risk aversion. 
The Group estimates an adjustment for non-financial risk separately from all other estimates.  
 
Discount rates  
The Group has adopted a bottom-up approach for deriving the yield curves, the starting point being the liquid risk-free 
base curves in the currencies in which the contracts are denominated. The final discount rates are chosen with 
consideration to the following curves for liabilities denominated in Qatari Riyals (which will continue to be monitored, 
compared, and assessed for appropriateness):  
 
• The United States (“US”) treasury risk-free curves (since the Qatari Riyal is currently pegged to the US Dollar).  

• The Qatar Central Bank’s Money Lending Rate for Qatari Riyal.  
Given the relatively liquid nature of the majority of the Group’s contracts, the Group does not incorporate an illiquidity 
premium in the discount rates determined using the bottom-up approach. Per the decision to use a bottom-up approach, 
no adjustment for the removal of credit risk is required in the derivation of the Group’s discount rates. 
 
2.4.2 Significant judgements and estimates in applying IFRS 9  
 

The Group assess loss allowance for the insurance receivable using the lifetime ECL model. At each reporting date, the 
Group assesses whether the Group’s insurance receivables are credit impaired. While assessing whether the receivables 
are ‘credit-impaired’ the Group assesses whether one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the receivable balances have occurred. 
 

As at the reporting date, the management’s assessment has concluded that amounted to QR 16,102,516 (2022:  
QR 12,945,535) as of 31 December 2023 of the receivable balances were credit impaired. 
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3.  NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
 

3.1  NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS EFFECTIVE FROM 1 JANUARY 2023 
 
The group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for its annual reporting period 
commencing 1 January 2023: 
 

• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 
• Definition of Accounting Estimates – amendments to IAS 8 
• International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules – amendments to IAS 12 
• Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction – amendments to IAS 12 
• Disclosure of Accounting Policies – Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 

 

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognized in prior and current periods and are not 
expected to significantly affect the future reporting periods, except for the new requirements of IFRS 17, Insurance 
Contracts. 
 

3.2  IFRS 17 'INSURANCE CONTRACTS'  
 
IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. IFRS 
17 establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts, reinsurance 
contracts and investment contracts with direct participation features (“DPF”). The Group has applied the full retrospective 
approach to each group of insurance contracts. 
 
The Group issues insurance contracts that transfer insurance risk. Insurance contracts are those contracts where the 
insurer accepts significant insurance risk from the policyholder by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified 
uncertain future event adversely affects the policyholder. In making this assessment, all substantive rights and obligations, 
including those arising from law or regulation, are considered on a contract-by-contract basis. The Group uses judgement 
to assess whether a contract transfers insurance risk (that is, if there is a scenario with commercial substance in which the 
Group has the possibility of a loss on a present value basis) and whether the accepted insurance risk is significant. Cash 
flows from insurance contracts are split into Liability for Incurred Claims (“LIC”) and Liability for Remaining Coverage 
(“LRC”). 
 
Unit of account and measurement model 
 
The Group manages insurance contracts issued by product lines or lines of business within an operating segment, where 
each product line includes contracts that are subject to similar risks. The segmentation based on business classes reflects 
the way the business is managed, given that each segment is evaluated separately by senior management resulting in the 
following portfolios: Medical; Energy/Operational; Engineering; Marine; Liability; Property & Terrorism; and Group Life. 
All insurance contracts within a product line represent a portfolio of contracts. Each portfolio is further disaggregated into 
group of contracts that are issued within a calendar year (annual cohorts) and are: (i) contracts that are onerous at initial 
recognition; (ii) contracts that at initial recognition are not onerous and have no significant possibility of becoming 
onerous; or (iii) the Group of remaining contracts. These profitability groups represent the level of aggregation at which 
insurance contracts are initially recognised and measured. Such groups are not subsequently reconsidered.  
 
For each portfolio of contracts, the Group determines the appropriate level at which reasonable and supportable 
information is available, to assess whether these contracts are onerous at initial recognition and whether non-onerous 
contracts have a significant possibility of becoming onerous. This level of granularity determines sets of contracts. The 
Group uses judgement to determine at what level of granularity the Group has reasonable and supportable information 
that is sufficient to conclude that all contracts within a set are sufficiently homogeneous and will be allocated to the same 
group without performing an individual contract assessment. 
 
Portfolios of reinsurance contracts held are assessed for aggregation separately from portfolios of insurance contracts 
issued. Applying the companying requirements to reinsurance contracts held, the Group aggregates reinsurance contracts 
held concluded within a calendar year (annual cohorts) into groups of: (i) contracts for which there is a net gain at initial 
recognition, if any; (ii) contracts for which, at initial recognition, there is no significant possibility of a net gain arising 
subsequently; and (iii) remaining contracts in the portfolio, if any. 
 
Reinsurance contracts held are assessed for aggregation requirements on an individual contract basis. The Group tracks 
internal management information reflecting historical experiences of such contracts’ performance. This information is 
used for setting pricing of these contracts such that they result in reinsurance contracts held in a net cost position without 
a significant possibility of a net gain arising subsequently. 
 
The Group holds reinsurance contracts that provide coverage on the insurance contracts for claims incurred during an 
accident year and are accounted for under the PAA since the Group does not expect significant variability in the fulfilment 
cash flows that would affect the measurement of the liability for remaining coverage under general measurement model. 
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3.  NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

3.2 IFRS 17 ‘INSURANCE CONTRACTS’ (CONTINUED) 

 
Unit of account and measurement model (continued) 
 
The Group assumes that no contracts are onerous at initial recognition, unless facts and circumstances indicate otherwise. 
If facts and circumstances indicate that some contracts are onerous, an additional assessment is performed to distinguish 
onerous contracts from non-onerous ones. For non-onerous contracts, the Group assesses the likelihood of changes in the 
applicable facts and circumstances in the subsequent periods in determining whether contracts have a significant 
possibility of becoming onerous. This assessment is performed at a policyholder-pricing-groups level. 
 
The General Measurement Model (“GMM”) is the default model to measure insurance contracts using updated estimates 
and assumptions that reflect the timing of cash flows and any uncertainty relating to insurance contracts. The premium 
allocation approach (“PAA”) is a simplified approach for the measurement of the liability for remaining coverage, that an 
entity may choose to use when the premium allocation approach provides a measurement which is not materially different 
from that under the general measurement model (“PAA eligibility test”) or if the coverage period of each contract in the 
Group of insurance contracts is one year or less. 
 
The Group uses the PAA for contracts with a coverage period of one year or less for the measurement of LRC. Some 
contracts have a coverage period of more than one year, but passed the PAA eligibility test. 
 
The Group applied the PAA approach to all its insurance contracts which include mainly energy, medical and other lines 
of business and to its reinsurance contracts held. 
 
Before the Group accounts for an insurance contract based on the guidance in IFRS 17, it analyses whether the contract 
contains components that should be separated. IFRS 17 distinguishes three categories of components that have to be 
accounted for separately: 
 

• cash flows relating to embedded derivatives that are required to be separated;  
• cash flows relating to distinct investment components; and  
• promises to transfer distinct goods or distinct services other than insurance contract services.  

 
The Group applies IFRS 17 to all remaining components of the contract. The Group does not have any contracts that require 
further separation or combination of insurance contracts and thus all components of the contracts are measured under 
IFRS 17. 
 
Recognition, initial and subsequent measurement 
 
Groups of insurance contracts issued are initially recognised at the earliest of the following: 
 

• the beginning of the coverage period; 
• the date when the first payment from the policyholder is due or actually received, if there is no due date; and 
• when the Group determines that a group of contracts becomes onerous. 

 
The Group initially recognises a group of reinsurance contracts held it has entered into from the earlier of the following: 
(a) For reinsurance contracts that provide proportionate coverage, at the later of: 
(i) the beginning of the coverage period of the company of reinsurance contracts and  
(ii) the initial recognition of any underlying contract. 
 
(b) All other groups of reinsurance contracts held are recognised from the beginning of the coverage period of the company 
of reinsurance contracts.  
 

However, if the Group entered into the reinsurance contract held at or before the date when an onerous group of underlying 
contracts is recognised prior to the beginning of the coverage period of the company of reinsurance contracts held, the 
reinsurance contract held, in this case, is recognised at the same time as the company of underlying insurance contracts is 
recognised. 
 

Only contracts that individually meet the recognition criteria by the end of the reporting period are included in the 
Group’s financial statements. When contracts meet the recognition criteria in the Group after the reporting date, they are 
added to the Group in the reporting period in which they meet the recognition criteria, subject to the annual cohorts 
restriction. Composition of the Group is not reassessed in subsequent periods. 
      
For insurance contracts issued, on initial recognition, the Group measures the LRC at the amount of premiums received, 
less any acquisition cash flows paid. 
 
For reinsurance contracts held, on initial recognition, the Group measures the remaining coverage at the amount of ceding 
premiums paid, plus broker fees paid to a party other than the reinsurer and any amounts arising from the derecognition 
of any other relevant pre-recognition cash flows. 
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3.  NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

3.2 IFRS 17 ‘INSURANCE CONTRACTS’ (CONTINUED) 

 
Recognition, initial and subsequent measurement (continued) 
 
An insurance contract is derecognised when it is: 
 

a) extinguished (that is, when the obligation specified in the insurance contract expires or is discharged or cancelled); 
or  

b) the contract is modified and additional criteria discussed below are met. 
 
The carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts issued at the end of each reporting period is the sum of:   
 

a.   the LRC; and  
b.   the Liability for Incurred Claims (“LIC”), comprising the fulfillment cash flows (“FCF”) related to past service 

allocated to the Group at the reporting date.  
 
For insurance contracts issued, at each of the subsequent reporting dates, the LRC is: 
 

a) increased for premiums received in the period; 
b) decreased for insurance acquisition cash flows paid in the period; 
c) decreased for the amounts of expected premium receipts recognised as insurance revenue for the services provided 

in the period; and  
d) increased for the amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows in the period recognised as insurance service 

expenses in the reporting period. 
For reinsurance contracts held, at each of the subsequent reporting dates, the remaining coverage is:  
 
a) increased for ceding premiums paid in the period;  
b) decreased for net ceding commissions received in the period;  
c) decreased for the expected amounts of ceding premiums and ceding commissions recognized as net reinsurance 

expenses for the services received in the period 
For the Liability for Incurred Claims “LIC”: 
 
The Group estimates the liability for incurred claims and expenses as the fulfillment cash flows related to incurred claims 
and expenses. The fulfillment cash flows are an explicit, unbiased, and probability-weighted estimate of the present value 
of the future cash flows, within the contract boundary of a group of contracts, that will arise as the entity fulfill its obligation 
under the insurance contracts, including a risk adjustment for non-financial risk. The Group disaggregates changes in the 
risk adjustment for non-financial risk between insurance service result and insurance finance income or expenses. 
 
The Group establishes insurance claims liabilities to cover the estimated liability for the cash flows associated with incurred 
losses as at the balance sheet date, including claims not yet reported (“IBNR”) and loss adjustment expenses incurred with 
respect to insurance contracts underwritten and reinsurance contracts placed by the Group. The ultimate cost of claims 
liabilities is estimated by using generally accepted standard actuarial techniques. 
 
The main assumption underlying these techniques is that the Group's past claims development experience can be used to 
project future claims development and hence ultimate claims costs. As such, these methods extrapolate the development 
of paid and incurred losses, average costs per claim (severity) and average number of claims (frequency) based on the 
observed development of earlier years and expected loss ratios. Historical claims development is analyzed by accident year, 
geographical area, as well as claim type. 
 
Additional qualitative judgment is used to assess the extent to which past trends may not apply in the future (e.g., to reflect 
one-off occurrences, changes in external or market factors such as public attitudes to claiming, economic conditions, levels 
of claims inflation and legislation, as well as internal factors such as portfolio mix, policy features and claims handling 
procedures) to arrive at the estimated ultimate cost of claims that present the probability-weighted expected value outcome 
from the range of possible outcomes, taking into account all the uncertainties involved. 
 
The Group has elected not to adjust the LRC for the effect of time value of money, as it expects the time between providing 
each part of the coverage and the related premium due date to be one year or less. On the other hand, the Group has decided 
to discount the LIC for the time value of money as some portfolios have significant amounts of claims paid after 12 months 
of date of loss. Hence, for all contracts measured under the PAA, the Group has decided to allow for the time value of money 
in estimating the Liability for Incurred Claims ("LIC"). 
 
The fulfillment cashflows are the current estimates of the future cash flows within the contract boundary of a group of 
contracts that the Group expects to collect from premiums and pay out for claims, benefits and expenses, adjusted to reflect 
the timing and the uncertainty of those amounts. As all contracts are measured under the PAA, unless the contracts are 
onerous, the FCF are only estimated for the measurement of the LIC. 
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3.  NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

3.2 IFRS 17 ‘INSURANCE CONTRACTS’ (CONTINUED) 

 
The estimates of future cash flows: 
a) are based on a probability-weighted mean of the full range of possible outcomes;  
b) are determined from the perspective of the Group, provided that the estimates are consistent with observable 
market prices for market variables; and  
c) reflect conditions existing at the measurement date. 
 
An explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk is estimated separately from the other estimates. For contracts measured 
under the PAA, unless the contracts are onerous, the explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk is only estimated for 
the measurement of the LIC. 
 
The estimates of future cash flows are adjusted using the current discount rates to reflect the time value of money and the 
financial risks related to those cash flows, to the extent not included in the estimates of cash flows. The discount rates 
reflect the characteristics of the cash flows arising from the companys of insurance contracts, including timing, currency 
and liquidity of cash flows. The determination of the discount rate that reflects the characteristics of the cash flows and 
liquidity characteristics of the insurance contracts requires significant judgement and estimation. 
 
Risk of the Group’s non-performance is not included in the measurement of groups of insurance contracts issued. In the 
measurement of reinsurance contracts held, the probability-weighted estimates of the present value of future cash flows 
include the potential credit losses and other disputes of the reinsurer to reflect the non-performance risk of the reinsurer. 
The Group uses consistent assumptions to measure the estimates of the present value of future cash flows for the company 
of reinsurance contracts held and such estimates for the company’s of underlying insurance contracts. 
 
Discount rates  
The Group has adopted a bottom-up approach for deriving the yield curves, the starting point being the liquid risk-free 
base curves in the currencies in which the contracts are denominated. The final discount rates are chosen with 
consideration to the following curves for liabilities denominated in Qatari Riyals (which will continue to be monitored, 
compared, and assessed for appropriateness):  
 
• The United States (“US”) treasury risk-free curves (since the Qatari Riyal is currently pegged to the US Dollar).  
• The Qatar Central Bank’s Money Lending Rate for Qatari Riyal. 
 
Given the relatively liquid nature of the majority of the Group’s contracts, the Group does not incorporate an illiquidity 
premium in the discount rates determined using the bottom-up approach. Per the decision to use a bottom-up approach, 
no adjustment for the removal of credit risk is required in the derivation of the Group’s discount rates. 
 
Contract boundary 
The Group uses the concept of contract boundary to determine what cash flows should be considered in the measurement 
of groups of insurance contracts. 
 
Cash flows are within the boundary of an insurance contract if they arise from the rights and obligations that exist during 
the period in which the policyholder is obligated to pay premiums or the Group has a substantive obligation to provide the 
policyholder with insurance contract services. A substantive obligation ends when: 
 

a) the Group has the practical ability to reprice the risks of the particular policyholder or change the level of benefits 
so that the price fully reflects those risks; or 

b) both of the following criteria are satisfied: 
(i) the Group has the practical ability to reprice the contract or a portfolio of contracts so that the price fully 

reflects the reassessed risk of that portfolio; and 
(ii) the pricing of premiums up to the date when risks are reassessed does not reflect the risks related to periods 

beyond the reassessment date. 
Cash flows outside the insurance contracts boundary relate to future insurance contracts and are recognised when those 
contracts meet the recognition criteria. 
 
For groups of reinsurance contracts held, cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from substantive rights 
and obligations of the Group that exist during the reporting period in which the Group is compelled to pay amounts to the 
reinsurer or in which the Group has a substantive right to receive insurance contract services from the reinsurer. 
 
Cash flows that are not directly attributable to a portfolio of insurance contracts are recognised in other operating expenses 
as incurred. 
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3.  NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

3.2 IFRS 17 ‘INSURANCE CONTRACTS’ (CONTINUED) 

 
Insurance acquisition costs and directly attributable expenses 
Insurance acquisition cash flows are the costs that are directly associated with selling, underwriting and starting a group 
of insurance contracts (issued or expected to be issued) and that are directly attributable to a portfolio of insurance 
contracts. 
 
Directly attributable expenses are the costs that can be fully or partially attributed to the fulfillment of the companys of 
insurance contracts. The Group allocates the attributable costs based on a number of drivers. Both acquisition and 
attributable costs fall under the insurance service expense. While the non-attributable costs are reported under other 
operating expenses. The Group amortises the insurance accquistion costs over the contract period. 
 
Insurance revenue 
The insurance revenue for the period is the amount of expected premium receipts allocated to the period. The Group 
allocates the expected premium receipts to each period of insurance contract services on the basis of the passage of time. 
The impact of seasonality is not considered material in relation to recording the insurance revenue. 
 
Insurance service expenses 
Insurance service expenses include the following:  
  
a. incurred claims for the period. 
b. other incurred directly attributable expenses.  
c. insurance acquisition cash flows amortization. 
d. changes that relate to past service – changes in the FCF relating to the LIC. 
e. changes that relate to future service – changes in the FCF that result in onerous contract losses or reversals of those 
losses. 
 
Presentation of reinsurance contracts held 
The Group presents financial performance of groups of reinsurance contracts held on a net basis in net income 
(expenses) from reinsurance contracts held, comprising the following amounts: 
 
a. reinsurance expenses;  
b. incurred claims recovery;  
c. other incurred directly attributable insurance service expenses;  
d. effect of changes in risk of reinsurer non-performance;  
e. changes relating to past service (i.e. adjustments to incurred claims).  
 
Reinsurance expenses are recognised similarly to insurance revenue. The amount of reinsurance expenses recognised in 
the reporting period depicts the transfer of received insurance contract services at an amount that reflects the portion of 
ceding premiums that the Group expects to pay in exchange for those services. For groups of reinsurance contracts held 
measured under the PAA, the Group recognises reinsurance expenses based on the passage of time over the coverage period 
of a group of contracts. 
 
Insurance finance income or expenses  
Insurance finance income or expenses comprise the change in the carrying amount of the companys of insurance contracts 
respectively arising from:  
 
a. the effect of the time value of money and changes in the time value of money; and  
b. the effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk. 
 
Onerous contract 
The Group assumes that no contracts are onerous at initial recognition, unless facts and circumstances indicate otherwise. 
If facts and circumstances indicate that some contracts are onerous, an additional assessment is performed to distinguish 
onerous contracts from non-onerous ones. 
 
If facts and circumstances indicate that a group of insurance contracts measured under the PAA is onerous on initial 
recognition or becomes onerous subsequently, the Group increases the carrying amount of the LRC to the amounts of the 
discounted FCF determined under the General Measurement Model (“GMM”), with the amount of such an increase 
recognised in insurance service expenses, and a loss component is established for the amount of the loss recognised. 
Subsequently, the loss component is remeasured at each reporting date as the difference between the amounts of the FCF 
determined under the GMM relating to the future service and the carrying amount of the LRC without the loss component. 
When a loss is recognised on initial recognition of an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts or on addition of 
onerous underlying insurance contracts to that group, the carrying amount of the asset for remaining coverage for 
reinsurance contracts held measured under the PAA is increased by the amount of income recognised in profit or loss and 
a loss-recovery component is established or adjusted for the amount of income recognised. 
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3.  NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

3.2 IFRS 17 ‘INSURANCE CONTRACTS’ (CONTINUED) 

 
Onerous contract (continued) 
 
The referred income is calculated by multiplying the loss recognised on underlying insurance contracts by the percentage 
of claims on underlying insurance contracts that the Group expects to recover from the reinsurance contract held that are 
entered into before or at the same time as the loss is recognised on the underlying insurance contracts. When underlying 
insurance contracts are included in the same group with insurance contracts issued that are not reinsured, the Group 
applies a systematic and rational method of allocation to determine the portion of losses that relates to underlying 
insurance contracts. 
 
The Group does not have any reinsurance contracts held measured under the PAA with underlying contracts measured 
under the GMM. 
 
Risk adjustment for non-financial risk 
The risk adjustment for non-financial risk is applied to the present value of the estimated future cash flows, and it reflects 
the compensation that the Group requires for bearing the uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows from 
non-financial risk as the Group fulfils insurance contracts. The Group has chosen the confidence level between 55th 
percentile to 75th percentile of the distribution of the claim reserves, considering this level is adequate to cover sources of 
uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows. Various methods are used to determine the risk adjustment 
including Mack Model, Cost of Capital (CoC) approach and the factors derived from relevant regulatory requirements. 
 

EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO IFRS 17 AND OTHER ADJUSTMENTS  
 
As stated in Note 2, this is the Group’s first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of IFRS 17.  
 
The accounting policies set out in Note 4 have been applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 and in the preparation of an opening IFRS 17 consolidated statement of 
financial position at 1 January 2022 (the Group’s date of transition) and 31 December 2022.  
 
In preparing its opening IFRS 17 consolidated statement of financial position, the Group has adjusted amounts reported 
previously in financial statements under IFRS 4. An explanation of how the transition from IFRS 4 to IFRS 17 has affected 
the Group’s financial position, for the respective periods, is set out in the following tables and the notes that accompany 
the tables.  
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EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO IFRS 17 AND OTHER ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Reconciliation of consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 January 2022. 
  IFRS 17  

 
Pre -adoption of 

IFRS 17 
Non IFRS 17 

adjustments (Note 37) 
Reclassification Remeasurement Post adoption of 

IFRS 17 

ASSETS      
Property and equipment  5,591,281  - - - 5,591,281 

Goodwill  303,559  - - - 303,559 

Right-of-use assets  36,292  29,372 - - 65,664 

Contract assets  9,464  - - - 9,464 

Equity-accounted investees  12,078  - - - 12,078 

Financial asset at FVTOCI  418,658  - - - 418,658 

Inventories 284,088 - - - 284,088 

Contract assets 6,514 (6,514) - - - 

Due from related parties 686,354 (677,515) (8,839) - -    

Financial asset at FVTPL 420,689 - - - 420,689 

Trade and other receivables 694,994 581,170 (267,366) - 1,008,798 

Other current assets - 102,859 - - 102,859 

Reinsurance contract assets 757,382 - 37,550 (117,031) 677,901 

Short-term investments 348,632 - - - 348,632 

Other bank balances - 48,619 - - 48,619 

Cash and bank balances 349,407 (48,619) - - 300,788 

TOTAL ASSETS 9,919,392 29,372  (238,655) (117,031) 9,593,078 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES      

EQUITY      

Share capital 1,858,409 - - - 1,858,409 

Legal reserve 377,308 - - - 377,308 

General reserve 74,516 - - - 74,516 

Translation reserve (55,836) 1,117 - - (54,719) 

Fair value reserve 3,786 - - - 3,786 

Retained earnings 998,204 17,459 - 61,551 1,077,214 

Non-controlling interests (198) - - - (198) 

Total Equity 3,256,189 18,576 - 61,551 3,336,316 

LIABILITIES      
Loans and borrowings 4,325,409 

5,267 - -
 - 5,267 

45,669 - -
 - 45,669 

101,259 - -
 - 101,259 

44,815 - -
 - 44,815 

50,429 - -
 - 50,429 

787,841 1,980 

 

 (221,697) -
 568,124 

41,452 - - 4,366,861 

Contract liabilities 5,267 - - - 5,267 

Deferred tax liabilities - 10,796   10,796 

Provision for decommissioning costs 45,669 - - - 45,669 

Provision for employees’ end of service 
benefits 

101,259 - - - 101,259 

Lease liabilities 44,815 - - - 44,815 

Dividends payable 50,429 - - - 50,429 

Trade and other payables 831,273 (6,629) (221,696) - 602,948 

Due to related parties 44,507 (34,823) (9,684) - - 

Insurance contract liabilities 1,214,575 - (7,275)                        (178,582) 1,028,718 

Total Liabilities  6,663,203 10,796 (238,655)                    (178,582) 6,256,762 



Gulf International Services Q.P.S.C. 
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(All amounts are expressed in Qatari Riyals ‘000 unless otherwise stated) 
 

27 

EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO IFRS 17 AND OTHER ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
Reconciliation of consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022. 
 

   IFRS 17  

 
Pre -adoption of 

IFRS 17 
Non IFRS 17 

adjustments (Note 37) 
Reclassification Remeasurement 

Post adoption of IFRS 
17 

ASSETS      
Property and equipment 5,560,956 - - - 5,560,956 

Goodwill 303,559 - - - 303,559 

Right-of-use assets 27,731 21,840 - - 49,571 

Contract assets 13,104 - - - 13,104 

Equity-accounted investees 28,088 - - - 28,088 

Financial asset at FVTOCI 306,592 - - - 306,592 

Inventories 393,170 - - - 393,170 

Due from related parties 759,940 (671,219) (88,721) - - 

Financial asset at FVTPL 438,185 - - - 438,185 

Trade and other receivables 799,656  550,386   (320,869)  -    1,029,173 

Other current assets -     120,833   -     -    120,833 

Reinsurance contract assets 1,091,277  -     (244,232)  (178,599) 668,446 

Short-term investments 746,126  -     -     -    746,126 

Other bank balances -  48,619  -     -    48,619 

Cash and bank balances 396,447  (48,619)  -     -    347,828 

TOTAL ASSETS 10,864,831 21,840 (653,822) (178,599) 10,054,250 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES      
EQUITY      

Share capital 1,858,409 - - - 1,858,409 

Legal reserve 384,339 - - - 384,339 

General reserve 74,516 - - - 74,516 

Translation reserve (71,371) 45,410 - - (25,961) 

Fair value reserve (27,646) - - - (27,646) 

Retained earnings 1,350,550 (43,199) - 57,893 1,365,244 

Non-controlling interests (312) - - - (312) 

Total Equity 3,568,485  2,211   -     57,893   3,628,589  

LIABILITIES      
Loans and borrowings  4,289,232  78,823     -     -    4,368,055 

Contract liabilities  17,320   -     -     -     17,320  

Provision for decommissioning costs  45,899   -     -     -     45,899  

Provision for employees’ end of service benefits  112,028   -     -     -     112,028  

Lease liabilities  41,371   -     -     -     41,371  

Deferred tax liabilities - 19,629 - - 19,629 

Dividends payable  48,619  -     -     -     48,619  

Trade and other payables  1,046,056   (55,750)   (297,271)  -     693,035  

Due to related parties  27,812   (23,073)  (4,739)  -     - 

Insurance contract liabilities  1,668,009   -     (351,812)  (236,492)  1,079,705  

Total Liabilities   7,296,346   19,629   (653,822)  (236,492)  6,425,661  
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EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO IFRS 17 AND OTHER ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Reconciliation of consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the period ended 31 December 2022 
 

    IFRS 17  

 

Previously 
reported 

Relating to 
Discontinued 

operations 

Non IFRS 17 
adjustments 

(Note 37) 

Reclassification Remeasurement Post adoption of 
IFRS 17 and 

other adjustments 

       
Revenue 3,665,539 (616,420)  -     (903,331) -  2,145,788  

Cost of sales  (2,992,875)  588,272   -     769,751  -  (1,634,852) 

Gross profit from non-insurance operations  672,664  (28,148)  -    (133,580) -  510,936  

       

Insurance revenue - - -  888,014   (230)  887,784  

Insurance service expense - - -  (675,977)  15,288  (660,689) 

Net expense from reinsurance contracts held - - -  (113,728)  (7,556)  (121,284) 

Insurance service result  -     -     -     98,309   7,502   105,811  

Gross profit and net insurance service results  672,664  (28,148)  -    (35,271)  7,502   616,747  

       

Finance (expense)/income from insurance contracts  
   issued  -     -     -     -     7,338   7,338  

Finance income/(expense) from reinsurance contracts  
  held  -     -     -     -     (18,500)  (18,500) 

Net insurance finance income / (expense)   -     -     -     -     (11,162)  (11,162) 

Other income  41,391   (866)  (13,122) - -  27,403  

Other gains/(losses) – net  (61,647)   35,395  - -  (26,252) 

General and administrative expenses  (218,520)  20,648   -     31,759  -  (166,113) 

Net gains on investments in debt securities measured   
   at FVOCI reclassified to profit or loss on disposal -   3,529  - -  3,529  

Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at FVTPL - -  (25,897) - -  (25,897) 

Net monetary gain arising from hyperinflation  (11,411) -  32,171   -    -  20,760  

Net impairment loss / reversal on financial assets  (776)  521  95     3,513  -  3,353  

Operating profit  421,701   (7,845)   32,171  1  (3,660)  442,368  

 
  



Gulf International Services Q.P.S.C. 
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(All amounts are expressed in Qatari Riyals ‘000 unless otherwise stated) 
 

29 

EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO IFRS 17 AND OTHER ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

  

    IFRS 17  

 

Previously 
reported 

Relating to 
Discontinued 

operations 

Non IFRS 17 
adjustment 

(Note 37) 

Reclassification Remeasurement Post adoption of 
IFRS 17 and 

other adjustments 

       

Finance income  38,387   (2,570)  -     -     -     35,817  

Finance costs  (181,926)  1,550   -     -     -     (180,376) 

Finance costs – Net  (143,539)  (1,020)  -    -  -     (144,559) 

       
Share of net profits of equity accounted investees  17,577   -     -     -     -     17,577  

Profit before income tax  295,739   (8,865)  32,171  1  (3,660)  315,386  

Income tax expense  (5,688)  (8,226)   -     -     (13,914) 

Profit for the year from continuing operation  290,051  (17,091) 32,171 1 (3,660) 301,472 

       
(Loss) / Profit from discontinued operation  
   (attributable to the shareholders of the Company) - 8,258 (7,532) - - 726 

Profit for the year  290,051    (8,833)    24,639 1 (3,660) 302,198 

       

Profit for the year attributable to:       

Shareholders of the Company  290,165  (8,833)  24,639  1  (3,660)  302,312  

Non-controlling interests  (114)  -     -     -     -     (114) 

  290,051  (8,833) 24,639 1 (3,660)  302,198  

       

Other comprehensive income       

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss       

Changes in the fair value of debt instruments at fair  
   value through other comprehensive income (31,432) - 3,529 

- - 
(27,903) 

Net instruments at FVOCI reclassified to profit or loss - - (3,529) - - (3,529) 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign  
   operations (15,535) - 44,294 - - 28,759 

Other comprehensive loss for the year (46,967) - 44,294 - - (2,673) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 243,084 (8,833) 68,933 1 (3,660) 299,525 

       

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the 
period attributable to:       

Shareholders of the Company  243,198  (8,833)  68,933  1  (3,660) 299,639 

Non-controlling interests  (114) -  -     -     (114) 

 243,084 (8,833)  68,933  1  (3,660)  299,525  

       
*Other adjustments represent non IFRS 17 related restatements recognised by management. Refer to Note 37 for more details.
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EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO IFRS 17 AND OTHER ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

   

 Remeasurement impact on the consolidated statement of financial position on adoption of IFRS 17 

 
  Impact on equity: 

Drivers of changes in equity 
Impact on equity on transition to 

IFRS 17 on 1 January 2022 

Impact on equity on transition to 
IFRS 17 on 31 December 2022 

Changes in measurement of insurance contract liabilities 178,583 236,492 

Changes in measurement of reinsurance contract assets (117,031)  (178,599) 

Total Impact 61,552  57,893 
 

  Impact on insurance contract liabilities: 

Drivers of changes  
Impact on liabilities on transition 

to IFRS 17 on  
1 January 2022 

Impact on liabilities on transition 
to IFRS 17 on  

31 December 2022 

Risk adjustment 176,986 218,701 

Loss component on onerous contracts 364 15,497 

Additional deferral of identified acquisition costs 1,233 2,295 

Total Impact 178,583 236,493 

 
  Impact on reinsurance contract assets: 

Drivers of changes  
Impact on assets on transition to 

IFRS 17 on 1 January 2022 

Impact on assets on transition to 
IFRS 17 on 31 December 2022 

Reinsurance risk adjustment 114,791 175,843 

Additional deferral of identified commission income 2,240 2,755 

Total Impact 117,031 178,598 

 

Overall increase in net equity, is principally, on account of release of margins for prudency which were held under IFRS 4 within outstanding claims and IBNR reserves. Under IFRS 

17, the best estimates reserves are held for IBNR therefore the additional margins held under IFRS 4 have been released resulting in the above impact on risk adjustment. 

 

Insurance acquisition cashflows under IFRS 17 included items that were previously classified as other expenses. They were amortised under IFRS 17, which resulted in an increase in 

deferred insurance acquisition cashflows. 

 

3.3  NEW, AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET EFFECTIVE  
 

Certain amendments to accounting standards have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2023 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the group. These 

amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 



Gulf International Services Q.P.S.C. 
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(All amounts are expressed in Qatari Riyals ‘000 unless otherwise stated) 

 

31 

4.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements. 
 

4.1  BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION 
 
Business combinations  
 
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group. The 
consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired. 
Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.  
 
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such 
amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.  
 
Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay contingent 
consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each 
reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.  
 
Subsidiaries  
 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group 'controls' an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on 
which control commences until the date on which control ceases.  
 
Non-controlling interests ('NCI')  
 
NCI are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.  
 
Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.  
 
Associates  
 
Associates are all entities over which the group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is generally 
the case where the group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for 
using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. 
 
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise 
the group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the group’s share of 
movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or 
receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment. 
IAS28(38),(39) Where the group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the 
entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has 
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity. IAS28(28),(30) Unrealised gains on transactions 
between the group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in these entities. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Loss of control  
 
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related 
NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the 
former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost. 
 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non­controlling interests 
in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of 
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net 
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non­controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's 
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase 
gain. 
 
  



Gulf International Services Q.P.S.C. 
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(All amounts are expressed in Qatari Riyals ‘000 unless otherwise stated) 

 

32 

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  
 

4.2 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Recognition and measurement  
 

Items of property and equipment are recognized at cost of acquisition and measured thereafter at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, if any.  
 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of an asset. Purchased software that is integral to 
the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. If significant parts of an item of property 
and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property 
and equipment. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  
 
Subsequent expenditure  
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only if it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group 
 
Depreciation  
 

The estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows: 
 

 Useful life 
  
Buildings 4 -20 years 
Aircraft 10-20years 
Plant and machinery 2 - 7 years 
Rigs 15 - 30 years 
  
Other property and equipment:  
Ground and radio equipment and tools 4 - 6 years 
Motor vehicles 4 - 5 years 
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3 - 7 years 
Computers 3 years 
 

Depreciation is calculated from when the assets are ready for their intended use. Depreciation is based on the estimated 
useful lives of the applicable assets on a straight-line basis, except capitalised maintenance expenditures, which are 
depreciated depending on the nature: 
 

1) Spares such as engines, gearboxes are depreciated over 4 years as that's the established intervals for such 
maintenance (normal aviation practice is to have an inspection every 4 years) to ensure air worthiness. 

2) Other spares which are consumed based on the flying hours and required to be replaced as per the air safety 
manual. Hence it is appropriate to depreciate these over the usage in terms of flying hours. 

 
Capitalised maintenance expenditures represent major overhaul and inspections costs to aircraft, engines and gearboxes. 
 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at each reporting date, with the effect 
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.  
 
Derecognition  
 

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
its use. Profit and loss on disposals of items of property and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from 
their disposals with their respective carrying amounts, and are recognised net within consolidated statement of profit or 
loss.  
 

Capital work-in-progress  
 

Capital work-in-progress is carried at cost less impairment, if any. capital work-in-progress is not depreciated. once assets 
within the capital work-in-progress category are completed, they are reclassified to the relevant category and depreciated 
accordingly once they are put into use.  Prepayments for property and equipment is included in capital work in progress. 
 

4.3 INVENTORIES 
 
Inventories are measured-at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the 
sale.  
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  
 
4.3 INVENTORIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Cost comprises the purchase price, import duties, transportation handling and other direct costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the following methods: 
 

- Drilling related inventories are calculated using weighted average method;  
- Aviation related inventories are calculated using specific identification method; and  
- Catering related inventories are calculated using First-in-First Out (FIFO) method. 
 

4.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

(a) Recognition and initial measurement 
 

Trade receivables issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities 
are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
 
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially 
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or 
issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.  
 
(b) Classification and subsequent measurement 
 

Financial assets  
 

(i) Classification 
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss), and 
• those to be measured at amortised cost. The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing 

the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 
 

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity 
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the group has made an irrevocable election at the 
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).  
The group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. 
 
(ii) Recognition and derecognition 
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, being the date on which the group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership. 
 
(iii) Measurement 
At initial recognition, the group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair 
value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss. 
 

Debt instruments 
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash 
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the group classifies its debt 
instruments: 

• Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows, where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign 
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or 
loss. 

• FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the 
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the 
carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income 
and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is 
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. 
Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses), and impairment expenses are presented 
as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss. 

• FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on 
a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within 
other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  
 
4.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

Equity instruments 
The group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the group’s management has elected to 
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains 
and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be 
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the group’s right to receive payments is established. 
 
Financial liabilities  
 
All financial liabilities are measured either at FVTPL or at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on 
changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a 
designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement profit or loss incorporates 
any interest paid on the financial liability. 
 

However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the financial 
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive 
income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The remaining 
amount of change in the fair value of liability is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Changes in fair 
value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income are not subsequently reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to 
retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability. 
 

Derecognition of financial liabilities  
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have 
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and 
payable is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 

4.5 IMPAIRMENT 

 
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at 
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk. 
 
For trade receivables, the group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime 
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see Note 5 for further details. 
 

4.6 DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS (DAC) 
 
An impairment review is performed at each reporting date or more frequently when an indication of impairment arises. 
When the recoverable amount is less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. DAC are 
included as a part of the liability adequacy test for each reporting period.  
 
DAC are derecognised when the related contracts are either settled or disposed off. 
 

4.7 INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES 
 
Insurance contract liabilities include the provision for outstanding claims, provision for claims incurred but not reported 
and the provision for unearned premium. Insurance contact liabilities are recognized when contracts are entered into and 
premiums are charged. The provision for outstanding claims is recognized for claims reported but not settled and accounts 
for the liability for unpaid loss and loss adjustment expense amounts based on the management's and loss adjusters' best 
estimate.  
 

The provision for claims incurred but not reported is calculated based on empirical data, historical trends and patterns and 
appropriate assumption with the application of widely acceptable actuarial techniques.  
 

The provision for unearned premium represents the portion of premium which relates to risks that have not expired as the 
reporting date. The provision for unearned premium is calculated based on the insurance service pattern provided by the 
insurance contract and is recognized as income over the term of the contract.  
 

The Group reviews the adequacy of the provision for unearned premium to cover costs associated with liability arising from 
unexpired risk at each reporting date. Where the provision is considered inadequate to cover future contractual obligations 
for unexpired risks, a provision for premium deficiency is established and recognized.   
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  
 

4.8 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks, cash in hand and short-term deposits. Short-term deposits held for the 
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes, capable of being readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and with an insignificant risk of changes in value are classified as cash and bank 
balances.  
 

4.9 SHARE CAPITAL 
 
Ordinary shares and the special share issued by the Group are classified as equity. The special share grants rights to 
QatarEnergy as described in its Article of Association. 
 

4.10 REVENUE RECOGNITION 
 
Revenue is recognised based on the amount of transaction price. Transaction price is the amount of consideration to which 
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring control over promised goods or services to a customer, 
excluding the amounts collected on behalf of third parties. For further details refer to the below table. 

 
Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies  
 

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations in 
contracts with customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue recognition policies. 
 

Type of services 
 

Nature, timing of satisfaction of performance obligations, significant 
payment terms 
 

Drilling and related services Customers generally contract for an agreement to provide integrated services to operate a 
rig and drill a well. The Group is seen by the operators as the overseer of all services.  
 
Consideration for activities that are not distinct within the scope of contracts, such as 
mobilization, and demobilization do not align with a distinct time increment within the 
contract term are allocated across the single performance obligation and are recognised 
over the expected recognition period in proportion to the passage of each hour available to 
drill. 
 

Drilling services are consumed as the services are performed and generally enhance a well 
site which the customer controls. Work performed on a well site does not create an asset 
with an alternative use to the contractor since the well/asset being worked on is owned by 
the customer. Therefore, the Group's measure of progress for a drilling contract is hours 
available to drill over the contracted duration. This unit of measure is representative of an 
output method as described in IFRS 15. 
 

Customers are invoiced on a monthly basis and consideration is payable when invoiced. 
 

Management fees The Group entered into an agreement to provide management services to one of its Joint 
Venture entities. Revenue from management fee is recognized over time as the customer 
benefits from the services as they are provided. 
 

Revenue is recognised over time as the services are provided using the input method. 
Customers are invoiced on a monthly basis and consideration is payable when invoiced. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  
 
4.10 REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)  

 
Aviation revenue - 
Helicopter transportation 
services, operation services 
(MRO) and training 
services. 

The revenue is derived from helicopter transportation services, operations services and 
training services.  
 

Transportation services 
The revenue from helicopter transportation services includes air-charter, tourist flights, 
aerial photo flights, air ambulance and related services. Revenue is recognised as the 
transportation services have been provided. 
 

Customers are invoiced on a monthly basis and consideration is payable when invoiced. 
 

Operation services (MRO) 
The revenue from operation services includes servicing and maintenance of charters and 
helicopters of the customers. Revenue is recognised as the services have been provided. 
 

Customers are invoiced on a monthly basis and consideration is payable when invoiced. 
 

Training services 
The revenue from training services includes flight training provided to the customers. 
Revenue is recognised as the services have been provided. 
 

Customers are invoiced on a monthly basis and consideration is payable when invoiced. 
 

Revenue is recognised over time as the services are provided. For fixed-price contracts, 
revenue is recognised based on the actual service provided to the end of the reporting period 
as a proportion of the total services to be provided, because the customer receives and uses 
the benefits simultaneously. This is determined based on the flying hours spent relative to 
the total hours agreed in the contract. 
 

Supply of spare parts The Group provides spare parts of helicopters to its customers. The revenue is recognised 
point in time when control is transferred, being when the spare parts are delivered to the 
customer. 
 

The revenue is recognised point in time when control is transferred, being when the 
spare part are delivered to the customer. 
 

 

 
Premiums and reinsurance premiums are taken into income over the terms of the policies to which they relate. Gross 
insurance and reinsurance written premiums comprise the total premiums receivable for the whole period of cover 
provided by contracts entered into during the accounting period. They are recognised on the date on which the policy 
commences.  
 
Unearned premiums represent the portion of net premiums written relating to the unexpired period of coverage calculated 
at actual number of days method (daily pro-rata basis). The change in the provision for unearned premium is taken to the 
statement of income in order that revenue is recognised over the period of risk. 
 

4.11 SEGMENT REPORTING 
 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group's other components. 
An operating segment's results are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors to make decisions about resources to be 
allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available (Note 33).  
 
Segment results that are reported to the Board of Directors include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those 
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly the parent company assets and related 
general and administrative expenses and goodwill recognized on business combination.  
 

4.12 SOCIAL FUND CONTRIBUTION 
 
The Group makes contributions equivalents to 2.5% of the adjusted consolidated net profit for the year into a state social 
fund for the support of sports, cultural, social and charitable activities. This is presented in the statement of changes of 
equity as an appropriation of profit in accordance with Law No. 13 of 2008.  
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  
 

4.13 DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTIONS 
 
Dividend distributions are at the discretion of the Group. A dividend distribution to the Group's shareholders is accounted 
for as a deduction from retained earnings. A declared dividend is recognised as a liability in the period in which it is 
approved by the shareholders. 
 

4.14 INCOME TAX 
 

International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules – Amendments to IAS 12 

  
The International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules (Amendments to IAS 12) provide a temporary mandatory exception 
from deferred tax accounting which is effective immediately and require new disclosures about the Pillar Two exposure. 
However, since in Qatar, where the Company and its parent QatarEnergy operates, have not enacted or substantively 

enacted the tax legislation related to the top-up tax as at the reporting date, there is no impact on the Group’s financial 
statements as at and for the year ended 31 December, 2023. Management is closely monitoring developments related to 
the implementation of the international tax reforms introducing a global minimum top-up tax. The adoption of the new 
accounting standards and amendments did not have a significant impact on the Company’s separate financial statements 
for this year. 
 
Current tax  
 

The Company’s profits are exempt from income tax in accordance with the provisions of Qatar’s Income Tax Law No. 24. 
of 2018. Current tax in these financial statements comprises the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year 
and any adjustment to the tax payable in respect of previous years related to the subsidiaries of the Group as per the tax 
laws and relevant subsequent executive regulations applicable in Qatar as at the reporting date.  Refer to Note 30 for further 
details related to settlement mechanism of the above tax liabilities.  
 

4.15 HYPERINFLATION 

 
The Group has operations in Turkey through its indirect subsidiary namely Redstar Havacilik Hizmetleri AS. The 
functional currency of the subsidiary in Turkey is Turkish Lira.  From 1 April 2022, the Turkish economy has been 
considered hyperinflationary based on the characteristics established by International Accounting Standard 29, 'Financial 
Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies' ('IAS 29'). This designation is determined following an assessment of a series 
of qualitative and quantitative circumstances, including the presence of a cumulative inflation rate of more than 100% over 
the previous three years.  IAS 29 requires that the financial statements of the subsidiary are stated in terms of the measuring 
unit current at the balance sheet date which requires restatement of the non-monetary assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary to reflect the changes in the general purchasing power of the Turkish Lira. 
The basic principles applied in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, are summarized in the following 
paragraphs.  
 
Adjustment for prior years  
 
The comparative amounts in consolidated financial statements presented in a stable currency are not adjusted for 
subsequent changes in the price level or exchange rates. Opening equity in the consolidated financial statement reported 
in the stable currency will be affected by: 

• the effect of restating non-monetary items from the date they were first recognised; and 

• the effect of translating those balances to the closing rate 
This results in a difference between the closing equity of the previous year in the consolidated financial statements and the 
opening equity of the current year. The combined effect of restating in accordance with IAS 29 and translation according 
to IAS 21 is presented as a net change in other comprehensive income (OCI) 
 
Adjustment for current year  
 
Monetary assets and liabilities, which are carried at amounts current at the date of consolidated statement of financial 
position, are not restated because they are already expressed in terms of the monetary unit current at the date of 
consolidated statement of financial position. Non-monetary assets and liabilities, which are not carried at amounts current 
at the date of consolidated statement of financial position, and components of owners' equity are restated by applying the 
relevant conversion factors.  Net monetary gain arising from hyperinflation is recognized in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. All items in the statement of profit or loss are restated by applying the 
conversion factors from the date on which the transaction originated except for those amounts deriving from non-monetary 
items, which are calculated based on the restated values of the related items.  
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  
 
4.15 HYPERINFLATION (CONTINUED) 
 
Adjustment for current year (continued) 
 
The effect of application indices on the Group's net monetary position is included in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss as monetary gain or loss.  
 
All items in the consolidated  statement of cash flows are expressed in a measuring unit current at the date of  consolidated 
statement of financial position; they are therefore restated by applying the relevant conversion factors from the date on 
which the transaction originated. 

 
4.16 LEASES 

 
The leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is 
available for use by the Group.  
 
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net 
present value of the following lease payments: 
 

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable, if any; and 
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that option. 

 
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the 
liability. 
 
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, 
which is generally the case for leases in the group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the 
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use 
asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions. 
 
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group: 
 

• uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the 
Group, which does not have recent third party financing, and 

• makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security. 
 
Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease 
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 
 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 
 

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; 
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received 
• any initial direct costs, and 
• restoration costs. 

 
Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line 
basis. 
 
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, 
which is generally the case for leases in the group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the 
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use 
asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions. 
 
Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-
term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less from the date of contract. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  
 

5.1 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
 
(a) Underwriting risk; 
(b) Credit risk; 
(c) Liquidity risk; and 
(d) Market risk. 
 
This note presents information about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks, the Group's objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management 
framework. The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group and 
to monitor risks. 
 
The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems 
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. The Group, through its training 
and management standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which 
all employees understand their roles and obligations. 
 
(a) Underwriting risk 
 
Underwriting risk comprises insurance risk, policyholder persistency risk and expense risk. The Group manages its 
underwriting risk based on the underwriting policy as approved by the Executive Risk Committee. The Risk Management 
Committee monitors the adequate application of the policy, and it reviews the trends in pricing, loss ratios and 
underwriting risks. The Committee is also involved in decisions made by the Executive Risk Committee on underwriting, 
pricing and market strategy. 
 
Underwriting risk management – Property and Casualty 
The frequency and severity of claims can be affected by several factors. The most significant are the level of awards for 
morbidity risk (for example, health recovery and incapacity for work) and the number of cases coming to court, especially 
for bodily injuries. This can be summarised as legislation risk. The amount of awards and the time for court settlement are 
set by the legislation. The above risk exposure is mitigated by diversification across a large portfolio of insurance contracts. 
 
The Group manages these risks through its underwriting strategy (two of the techniques that are pivotal for automobile 
insurance are product pricing and portfolio segmentation), adequate reinsurance arrangements and proactive claims 
handling. The objective of the underwriting strategy is to ensure that the underwritten risks are well diversified in terms of 
type and amount of risk. The variability of risks is improved by the careful selection and implementation of underwriting 
strategies, which are designed to ensure that risks are diversified in terms of type of risk and level of insured benefits. 
 
The Group has limited its exposure by imposing maximum claim amounts on certain contracts, as well as using reinsurance 
arrangements in order to limit its exposure to aggregate amount of claims (for example, third party liability claims). The 
effect of such reinsurance arrangements is that the Group should not suffer total insurance losses above a certain level. 
 
Underwriting limits are in place to enforce appropriate risk selection criteria. For example, the Group has the right not to 
renew individual policies, to re-price the risk on renewal, to impose deductibles, and to reject the payment of a fraudulent 
claim. Claims payment limits are always included to cap the amount payable on occurrence of the insured event. 
 
Insurance contracts also entitle the Group to pursue third parties for payment of some or all costs (for example, 
subrogation). 
 
The Group has a specialised claims unit dealing with the mitigation of risks surrounding known claims. This unit 
investigates and adjusts all material or suspicious claims. The claims are reviewed individually at least annually and 
adjusted to reflect the latest information on the underlying facts, current law, contractual terms and conditions, and other 
factors. The Group actively manages and pursues early settlements of claims, to reduce its exposure to unpredictable 
developments. 
 
Expense risk 
 
Expense risk is the risk of unexpected increases in policy maintenance, claim handling and other costs relating to fulfilment 
of insurance contracts. The risk is managed through budgeting and periodic cost evaluations. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)  
 
5.1  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(b) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash flows of debt investments carried at amortised cost, at 
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), and deposits with 
banks and financial institutions, as well as outstanding receivables. 
 
(i) Risk management 
Credit risk is managed on a group basis.  For banks, the group only deals with the reputed banks in the country. If wholesale 
customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control 
assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. 
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. There are no 
significant concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to individual customers, specific industry sectors 
and/or regions. The group’s investments in debt instruments are considered to be low risk investments. The credit ratings 
of the investments are monitored for credit deterioration. 
 
(ii) Security  
For some trade receivables the group may obtain security in the form of guarantees, deeds of undertaking or letters of 
credit which can be called upon if the counterparty is in default under the terms of the agreement. 
 
(iii) Impairment of financial assets 
The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on: 

- Trade receivables; 
- Other receivables; 
- Other financial assets at amortised cost 
- Debt investments measured at FVOCI; and  
- Contract assets. 

 
Trade receivables and contract assets  
 
The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets. 
 
To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially the 
same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The group has therefore concluded that 
the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets. 
 
The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 24 months before 31 December 2023 or 
1 January 2023 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical 
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability 
of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has identified the GDP in which it sells its goods and services to be 
the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. 
 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when 
estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue 
cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's historical 
experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.  

       

 

Current 
(not past 

due) 
1-90 days  
past due 

91–180 days 
past due 

181–365 
days past 

due 

More than 
365 days 
past due Total 

31 December 2023       
Gross carrying amount  
  – trade receivables 703,555 67,021 17,262 75,554 57,023 920,415 

Gross carrying amount  
  – contract assets 19,784 - - - - 19,784 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)  
 

5.1 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued) 
 

 
 

Current 
(not past 

due) 
1-90 days  
past due 

91–180 days 
past due 

181–365 
days past 

due 

More than 
365 days 
past due Total 

31 December 2022       
Gross carrying amount  
   – trade receivables 851,276 38,155 10,136 55,994 55,563 1,011,124 

Gross carrying amount  
   – contract assets 93,979 - - - - 93,979 

 
Trade receivables and contract assets are written off where there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment 
plan with the group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 365 days past due. 
 
Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets are presented as net impairment losses within operating profit. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item. 
 
Debt investments  
 
All of the Group’s debt investments at amortised cost and FVOCI are considered to have low credit risk , and the loss 
allowance recognised during the period was therefore limited to 12 months’ expected losses. Management consider ‘low 
credit risk’ for listed bonds to be an investment grade credit rating with at least one major rating agency. Other instruments 
are considered to be low credit risk where they have a low risk of default and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its 
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term. 
 
Other financial assets at amortised cost 
 
Other financial assets at amortised cost include short term investments with local banks.  
 
Debt instruments measured at FVOCI 
 
Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) include managed funds and, listed and 
unlisted debt securities. The loss allowance for debt investments at FVOCI is recognised in profit or loss and reduces the 
fair value loss otherwise recognised in OCI.  
 

 
(c) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Management's approach to managing liquidity is to 
ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal 
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation. 
 

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidity reserve (comprising the undrawn borrowing facilities and 
cash and cash equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flows. This is generally carried out at local level in the operating 
companies of the Group, in accordance with practice and limits set by the group.  
 
These limits vary by location to take into account the liquidity of the market in which the entity operates. In addition, the 
group’s liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows in major currencies. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)  
 

5.1 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
Maturities of financial liabilities 

 
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the financial liabilities of the Group as at 31 December based on 
remaining undiscounted contractual obligations. 
  Contractual cash flows 

 
Less than 
6 months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

More than  
1 year Total 

     
At 31 December 2023     
Loans and borrowings 181,283 181,283 5,609,364 5,971,930 

Insurance contract liabilities 351,028 351,028 549,820 1,251,876 

Trade payables, accruals and other 
payables 636,542 2,163 - 638,705 

Dividends payable 47,079 - - 47,079 

Lease liabilities 2,023 3,228 23,134 28,385 

Contract liabilities 2,730 - - 2,730 

 1,220,685 537,702 6,182,318 7,940,705 
 
 

  Contractual cash flows 

 
Less than 
6 months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

More than  
1 year 

Total 

     
At 31 December 2022     
Loans and borrowings 1,145,660 590,188 2,639,072 4,374,920 

Insurance contract liabilities 240,996 240,996 597,713 1,079,705 

Trade payables, accruals and other 
payables 

727,858 2,163  -  730,021 

Dividends payable 48,619  -   -  48,619 

Lease liabilities 31,938 2,000 7,432 41,370 

Contract liabilities 14,590  -  2,730 17,320 

 2,209,661 835,347 3,246,947 6,291,955 

 

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly 
different amounts.  
 

5.2  MARKET RISK 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, equity prices and interest rates, will 
affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is 
to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 
 
(a)  Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk arises when the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Group's management monitors the interest rate fluctuations on a continuous basis and acts 
accordingly. 
 
The interest rate profile of the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments is as follows: 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Fixed rate instruments   
Financial assets   
Short term investments and term deposits 718,793 746,126 

   

Variable rate instruments   

Financial liabilities   

Loans and borrowings 4,406,830 4,368,055 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)  
 
5.2  MARKET RISK (CONTINUED) 
 
Exposure to interest rate risk  
 
Bank deposits are agreed at fixed rates, and hence does not exposes the Group to interest rate risk. Interest bearing loans 
and borrowings are issued at variable rates, which exposes the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group's 
management monitors the interest rate fluctuations on a continuous basis and acts accordingly.  
 
(b) Equity price risk 
 
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by 
factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments 
traded in the market. 
 
The Group's equity price risk exposure relates to financial assets and financial liabilities whose values will fluctuate as a 
result of changes in market prices, principally investment in equity securities. 
 
The Group's price risk policy requires it to manage such risks by setting and monitoring objectives and constraints on 
investments, diversification plans, limits on investments in each sector. The Group has no significant concentration of 
price risk. 
 
The Group limits equity price risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio and by continuous monitoring of its investments. 
The majority of the Groups’s equity investments comprise securities quoted on the Qatar Exchange. 
 
A 10% change in the prices of equities, with all other variables held constant, would impact equity and consolidated 
statement of profit or loss by QR 12.97 million (2022: QR 11.68 million).  
 
(c)  Currency risk 
 
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a 
currency that is not the group entity's functional currency. 
 
The Group is exposed to transactional foreign currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies 
in which sales, purchases, receivables and borrowings are denominated and the respective functional currencies of Group 
companies. The functional currencies of Group companies are primarily Qatari Riyal and Turkish Lira, the currencies in 
which these transactions are primarily denominated are US Dollar and Euro.  
 
The transactions of the Group in the US Dollar bear no foreign currency risk as the US Dollar is pegged with the Qatari 
Riyal. With respect to Euro, management monitors the exchange rate fluctuations on a continuous basis and makes its 
effort to limit the transaction in these currencies without causing interruption to its operations.  
 
The group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, expressed in Qatari Riyals, was as follows: 
 
Net Exposure (Liability) 2023 2022 
   
Euro 108,125 16,145 

 

 
Increase/ decrease  

in Euro to the QR 
Effect on profit 

before tax 
   
2023 +/- 3% 444,741 
2022 +/- 3% 62,367 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)  
 

5.3 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong capital base in order to 
support its business and to sustain future development of the business. Management monitors its capital structure and 
makes adjustments to it, in light of economic conditions. 
 
The Group monitors capital using a ratio of 'net debt' to 'equity'. The Group's capital management policy remained 
unchanged since the previous year. 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Total borrowings (i) 4,406,830 4,368,055 

Lease liability 28,385 41,371 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents* (1,248,900) (1,093,954) 

Net debt 3,186,315 3,315,472 
Total equity (ii) 3,836,653 3,628,589 

Net debt to equity ratio 0.83 0.91 

 
* Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. 
 

(i) Total borrowings are defined as short and long-term borrowings (loan and borrowings) as detailed in Note 19. 
(iii) Total equity includes all capital, retained earnings and reserves of the Group that are managed as capital. 
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6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 

 Freehold 
land   Buildings   Rigs  Machineries  Aircraft  

 Other 
property and 

equipment  

 Capital 
work-in-

progress    Total  

 

         

 

Cost: 
   

 
     

As at 1 January 2023   90,826   172,764   6,573,810   1,269,415   1,670,155   653,289   173,553   10,603,812  
 

Additions    -     986   1,744   105,042   108,773   52,348   64,407   333,300  
 

Transfers    -      -     34,327   367    -    670   (35,364)  -    
 

Disposals    -      -     -   -   (37,440)  (5,002)  (391)  (42,833) 
 

Write-offs    -      -     -   (10,305)                       -    (11,979) -  (22,284) 
 

Effect of hyperinflation    -      -     -   -   68,521   4,069  -  72,590  
 

Effect of movements in exchange rates    -     (268)  -   -   (76,466)  (6,483)  (4,541)  (87,758) 
 

Disposal of a subsidiary     -     (53,467)  -   (62,721)   -     (52,741)   -     (168,929) 
 

As at 31 December 2023   90,826   120,015   6,609,881   1,301,798   1,733,543  634,171 197,664  10,687,898  
 

    
 

     

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses: 

   
 

     

As at 1 January 2023                     -      105,948   2,469,207   948,404   956,491   562,806    -     5,042,856  
 

Depreciation charge for the year                 -      3,037   202,624   51,812   49,812   43,953    -     351,238  
 

Impairment loss (Note 6.3)                    -       -     -   -   7,316    -      -     7,316  
 

Disposals                     -       -     -   -   (35,611)  (4,478)   -     (40,089) 
 

Write-offs                     -       -     (797)  -   (9,508)  (10,714)   -     (21,019) 
 

Effect of hyperinflation                    -       -     -   -   14,836   920    -     15,756  
 

Effect of movements in exchange rates                     -      (244)  -   -   (11,428)  (3,794)   -     (15,466) 
 

Disposal of a subsidiary                     -      (47,440)  -   (57,723)   -     (54,140)   -     (159,303) 
 

As at 31 December 2023   -     61,301   2,671,034   942,493   971,908   534,553   -     5,181,289  
 

    
 

     

Net carrying value: 
   

 
     

As at 31 December 2023  90,826   58,714   3,938,847   359,305   761,635   99,618   197,664   5,506,609  
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6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)  
 

 
Freehold 

land Buildings 
 

Rigs*  Machineries* Aircraft* 

Other 
property and 

equipment 

Capital  
work-in- 
progress Total 

         
Cost:         

As at 1 January 2022 90,826 172,752 6,573,810 1,163,069  1,613,262  632,181 48,731 10,294,631 

Additions - - - 81,158  17,660  26,253 150,916 275,987 

Transfers - - - 33,445  (6,534) 357 (27,268) - 

Disposals - - - (8,257)  862  (4,433) (687) (12,515) 

Write-offs - - - -  (6,103) (7,110) - (13,213) 

Effect of hyperinflation  - - -  - 78,013 8,333 2,443 88,789 

Effect of movements in exchange rates - 12 - - (27,005) (2,292) (582) (29,867) 

As at 31 December 2022 90,826 172,764 6,573,810 1,269,415  1,670,155  653,289 173,553 10,603,812 

         

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses:         

As at 1 January 2022 - 101,080   2,266,476   893,301  909,160  533,333 - 4,703,350 

Depreciation charge for the year  - 4,858   202,731 55,959  48,276  35,649 - 347,473 

Impairment loss (Note 6.3) - - - -  2,202  - - 2,202 

Disposals - - - (856)  (6,437) (3,901) - (11,194) 

Write-offs - - - -  (5,928) (6,874) - (12,802) 

Effect of hyperinflation property  - - - -  - 2,141 - 2,141 

Effect of movements in exchange rates - 10 - -  12,778  (1,102) - 11,686 

As at 31 December 2022 - 105,948 2,469,207 948,404  960,051  559,246 - 5,042,856 

         

Net carrying value:         

As at 31 December 2022 90,826 66,816 4,104,603 321,011  710,104  94,043 173,553 5,560,956 

 

*Management has further disaggregated the property and equipment by class compared to prior year to improve the presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
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6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)  
 
6.1  Freehold land mainly comprises of a plot of land acquired by Al Koot Insurance and Reinsurance Company 

P.J.S.C. for the purpose of setting up an administrative and operations office. 
 
6.2  Depreciation charge for the continuing operations for the year has been included in the consolidated statement 

of profit or loss as follows: 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Cost of sales 346,593 343,643 

General and administrative expenses 4,645 3,830 

 351,238 347,473 

 
6.3  Aircraft (Bell series)  

 
 Management has identified that the Bell series within the aviation segment is becoming technologically obsolete 

and does not foresee sustainable stream of revenue.  On that basis management has impaired the Bell series 
within the aviation segment down to its fair value less cost to sell using market prices adjusted for the condition 
of the aircraft (Level 3). The carrying exceeded the recoverable amount and therefore management recognized 
an additional impairment of QR 7.3 million during the year (2022: QR 2 million). The carrying value of Bell 
series after the cumulative impairment amounted to QR 19.2 million as of 31 December 2023 

 
Drilling Rigs  
 
Further as of 31 December 2023 management has carried out an assessment of impairment of its rigs in light of 
the external indicators, current economic conditions surrounding the oil prices and market rates of such assets. 
The Group considers each of its drilling rigs within the drilling segment as individual CGUs. The recoverable 
amount was determined by the Value in Use method which uses the CGUs discounted projected cashflows.  

 
Based on the assessment, recoverable amount of each CGU was found to be more than its carrying value. The 
impairment model did not identify any impairment losses.  
Management has determined the values assigned to each of the above key assumptions as follows: 

 
Assumption Approach used to determine values Rigs average 

rate 

Average revenue 
growth rate 

Revenue assumptions are contractual when possible, with an average annual 
revenue growth rate over the forecasted period based on management’s 
expectation of market development and product performance, based on 
anticipated new customers being added to the  
e-commerce platform. 4.4% 

Pre-tax discount 
rate 

 
Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) 9.5% 

 
Management has identified that a reasonably possible change in the WACC assumptions for Rigs could cause the carrying 
amount to exceed the recoverable amount. Reduction in the growth rate by 0.5% will result in an impairment of QR 116 
million. The impairment models were not significantly sensitive to other assumptions. 

 
7. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
 
On 16 October 2023, one of the subsidiaries of the Group namely Amwaj Catering Services, which represents the Group’s 
catering segment, acquired 100% shares of selected entities of Shaqab Abela Catering Services Company and Atyab Fruits 
and Vegetables. Simultaneously the Group transferred 35.7% of its ownership in Amwaj Catering Services to Tamween 
Capital, and 34.3% to Abela Qatar International (“AQI”). The Group retained the remaining 30% in Amwaj Catering 
Services.  
 

The transaction resulted in the deconsolidation of Amwaj Catering Services and recognition of the retained interest as an 
equity accounted investment with 30% ownership at fair value. Accordingly, the subsidiary is reported in the current 
period as a discontinued operation until the date of deconsolidation. A loss was recognised on the transaction by the 
Group of QR 26 million within loss from discontinued operation. 
 

The financial performance and cash flow information presented are for the period from 1 January 2023 to 16 October 
2023 (2023 column) and the year ended 31 December 2022. 
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7. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

For the period/year ended 
16 October 

2023 
31 December 

2022 
   
Revenue 351,485 616,420 

Expenses (349,381) (615,087) 

Profit before income tax 2,104 1,333 

Income tax expense (62) (607) 

Profit after income tax of discontinued operation 2,042 726 

Loss on sale of the subsidiary after income tax (26,279) - 

(Loss) / Profit from discontinued operation (24,237) 726 

   

Net cash (outflow) / inflow from operating activities 97,589  (1,095) 

Net cash (outflow) / inflow from investing activities (5,592)  21,329 

Net cash outflow from financing activities (85,977)  (13,781) 

Net increase in cash generated by the subsidiary 6,020  6,453 

 

 
Purchase consideration cash outflow as at 16 October  2023 
  
Cash consideration - 
Less cash disposed (127,414) 

Net outflow of cash investing activities (127,414) 

 
Details of the of the subsidiary deconsolidated as at 16 October  2023 
  
Consideration - Fair value of retained interest in Amwaj 344,623 

Less carrying amount of net assets deconsolidated*             (370,902) 

Loss on disposal                 (26,279) 

Amwaj’s profit for the period until deconsolidation 2,042 

Loss from discontinued operation                (24,237) 
 

*This includes QR 303 million of goodwill  
 
The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at the date of deconsolidation, 16 October 2023, were: 
 

 2023 
  
Property and equipment 9,626 

Right-of-use assets 35,869 

Total non-current assets 45,495 

  
Inventories 13,768 

Trade and other receivables 130,170 

Cash and bank balances 127,414 

Total current assets  271,352  

Total assets  316,847  

   
Lease liabilities 8,433 

Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 32,025 

Provision for decommissioning costs 46,079 

Total non-current liabilities 86,537 

  
Lease liabilities 26,987 

Trade and other payables 135,980 

Total current liabilities 162,967 

Total liabilities 249,504 
 

In compliance with the provisions of International Accounting Standard (IAS 28) 'Investments in associates and joint 
ventures' a notional purchase price allocation (NPPA) was undertaken to account for the transaction. Based on the 
provisional NPPA performed, customer contracts of QR 11.6 million, and goodwill of QR 294 million were identified as 
intangible assets. 
 
The Group applied judgment with the support of an independent valuer in order to determine the fair values of the 
combining entities and the fair values that formed part of the notional purchase price allocation using discounted 
cashflows. 
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8.  RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 
 

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 
 
The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases: 
 

Right-of-use assets 
 2023 2022 

   
Buildings 11,966 46,072 

Land 16,420 3,499 

  28,386  49,571 

 
 2023 2022 

   
Balance at 1 January  49,571   65,664  

Additions for the year  28,385   15,073  

Amortisation during the year  (13,701)  (31,166) 

Disposal of subsidiary   (35,869)  -    

  28,386   49,571  

 
The Group had disposed of Amwaj during the year which held a right of use assets amounting to QR 36 million as of the 
disposal date. 
 

9.   LEASE LIABILITIES 
 
Lease liabilities 
 
1) Amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position 
 

The Group has recorded lease liabilities as below: 
 2023 2022 
   
Balance at 1 January  41,371  44,815 

Additions for the year  28,386  15,073 

Finance cost for the year  202  535 

Payments made during the year  (6,154) (19,052) 

Disposal of subsidiary   (35,420) - 

 28,385 41,371 

 

 2023 2022 
   
Non-current liabilities 23,135 7,432 

Current liabilities 5,250 33,939 

 
2) Amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income 
 
The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to leases: 
 

 2023 2022 

   
Interest expense (included in finance cost)  202  535 

Amortisation  of right of use assets 13,701 31,166 

 
10.  EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES 
 

Name of entity  
% of 

ownership 2023 2022 
  2023 2022   
Amwaj Catering   30% 100% 349,519 - 

Gulfdrill L.L.C.   50% 50% 31,854 12,933 

Immaterial joint ventures  49% 49% 8,679 15,155 

Total equity accounted investees   390,052 28,088 
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10.  EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES (CONTINUED) 
 
The movement in the material equity accounted investees is as follows: 
 

 Amwaj Catering Gulfdrill L.L.C. 
   

Beginning of the year - 12,933 

Additions 344,623 - 

Profit for the period/year 3,962 18,080 

Other adjustments 934 841 

Dividends paid - - 

 349,519 31,854 

 
a) Summarised financial information for equity accounted investees 

 
The tables below provide summarised financial information for equity accounted investees and the Group’s share of those 
amounts. They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity when using the equity method, including 
fair value adjustments and modifications for differences in accounting policy. 
 

Summarised statement of financial position 
Amwaj Catering  Gulfdrill L.L.C. 

2023 2022 2023 2022 
       

Current assets   -    

Cash and cash equivalents 175,773  - 1,369 26,516 

Other current assets 390,354  - 505,660 375,404 

Total current assets 566,127   - 507,029 401,920 

Non-current assets 186,476  - 365,011 291,705 
       

Current liabilities       

Financial liabilities (excluding     -    

  trade payables) 126,765  - -  147,477 

Other current liabilities 340,837  - 294,975 396,517 

Total current liabilities 467,602   - 294,975 543,994 
       

Non-current liabilities   -    

Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables)  18,802 - 368,927 74,853 

Other non-current liabilities  114,378 - 146,399 49,200 

Total non-current liabilities  133,180 - 515,326 124,053 

Net assets  151,821  - 61,739 25,578 

       

Group’s share in %  30% - 50% 50% 

Group’s share  45,546 - 30,869 12,789 

Other adjustments 9,621  - 985 144 

Goodwill (Note 7) 294,352 - - - 

Carrying amount 349,519   - 31,854 12,933 

 
Summarised statement of comprehensive 
income 

Amwaj Catering Gulfdrill L.L.C. 
2023 2022 2023 2022 

     
Revenue 468,330 - 724,148 711,291 

Interest income 5,256 - - - 

Depreciation and amortisation (28,304) - (171,764) (148,639) 

Interest expense (3,078) - (14,688) (19,435) 

Other operating expenses (428,837) - (497,517) (507,098) 

Income tax expense (160) - (4,018) (2,504) 

Profit for the period 13,207 - 36,161 33,615 

Total comprehensive income 13,207 - 36,161 33,615 
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10.  EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES (CONTINUED) 
 
b) Individually immaterial joint ventures 
 
In addition to the interests in the investments disclosed above, the Group also has interests in a number of individually 
immaterial joint ventures that are accounted for using the equity method. 
 

 2023 2022 
   

Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial joint ventures  15,155   12,078  

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of profit  981   4,644  

Dividends received   (3,920)  (1,567) 

Disposal  (3,537)  -    

  8,679   15,155  

 
11. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 
 
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial investments are as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 
   
Investments measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)   

- Quoted debt securities (i)  133,094  123,043 

- Quoted equity securities (i)   206,527   171,538 

- Quoted shares in Qatari public shareholding companies  129,721 143,604 

 469,342   438,185 

Investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI)  

 

- Quoted debt securities (ii)  334,696  284,367 

- Managed funds  33,251  22,222 

- Unquoted shares  2  3 

 367,949 306,592 

 
(i) These are acquired and incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing them in the near term or 

to take advantage of short term market movements. 
(ii) Quoted debt securities at FVOCI are with an original maturity of ranging between one to nine years. 
(iii) Financial investments at FVTPL and FVOCI, except unquoted shares, have been valued using Level 1 

measurement basis and there have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements. 
 
Financial investments are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows: 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Non-current assets 367,949 306,592 
Current assets 469,34 438,185 
 837,292 744,777 

 
Movement in provision for financial investments were as follows: 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Balance at 1 January 4,274 7,898 
Provision reversed during the year 237 (3,624) 
Balance at 31 December 4,511 4,274 
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12.  INVENTORIES 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Spare parts 494,303 432,013 

Catering inventories - 14,346 

  494,303  446,359 

Less: Provision for slow-moving and obsolete inventories   (53,952) (53,189) 

  440,351  393,170 

 
Inventories consumed during the year are recognized as expenses in 'Cost of sales' (Note 26). 
Movement in provision for slow-moving and obsolete inventories during the year were as follows: 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Balance at 1 January 53,189 71,877 

Provision made during the year 763 1,554 

Provision utilised during the year - (20,242) 

Balance at 31 December 53,952 53,189 

 
The movement in provision for slow-moving and obsolete inventories is included in 'General and administrative expenses' 
(Note 29). 

 

13.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Trade receivables  920,887   1,024,069  

Contract assets  6,680   80,875  

  927,567   1,104,944  

Less: Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables  (57,023)  (75,771) 

  870,544   1,029,173  

 
Movement in provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is as follows: 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Balance at 1 January 75,771 73,012 

Disposal of subsidiary  (20,208) - 

Provision made during the year 1,460 2,759 

 57,023 75,771 

 
Provision for impairment loss/ (reversal of impairment) on financial assets is presented in consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and analysed as follows: 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Financial investments (Note 11) (237)  (3,624) 

Trade and other receivables (Note 13) 1,460    2,759  
Short-term investments  118   (2,914) 
Cash and bank balances (Note 15) -  426 

 1,341  (3,353) 

 
Contract assets presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows: 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Current  6,680  80,875 
Non-current 13,104 13,104 
 19,784 93,979 

 
Contracts assets have reduced during the year mainly due to the disposal of Amwaj. 
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14.  SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS 
 

 2023 2022 
   
Short term investments 718,793 746,126 

 

15.  CASH AND BANK BALANCES 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Cash in hand 229 1,091 

Cash at bank   

- Current accounts and call deposits 529,878 206,350 

- Fixed and term deposits (1) & (2) - 140,813 

 530,107 348,254 

Less: Provision for impairment of bank balances - (426) 

Cash and cash equivalents as per consolidated statement of cash 
flows 

530,107 347,828 

 
(1) These fixed deposits held with banks are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather 

than for investment or other purposes, capable of being readily convertible to a known amount of cash and with 
an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 
 
 

15.1  OTHER BANK BALANCES 

 
 2023 2022 
   

Cash at banks - restricted for dividend (Note 23) 47,079 48,619 

 47,079 48,619 

 

16.  SHARE CAPITAL 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Issued and paid-up capital 1,858,409 1,858,409 

 
The Group has an authorised share capital of QR 2,000 million, divided into 1 special share of nominal value of QR 1 and 
1,999,999,999 ordinary shares of each of nominal value of QR 1. As at the reporting date, the Group had issued and paid 
up capital of QR 11,858,409 thousand (2022: QR 11,858,409 thousand) which consists of 1 special share of nominal value 
of QR 1  and 1,858,408,689 ordinary shares each of nominal value of QR 1 (2022: 1 special share of nominal value of QR 
1 and 1,858,408,689 ordinary shares each of nominal value of QR 1). The special share is owned by QatarEnergy and may 
not be cancelled or redeemed without the consent of the QatarEnergy.  The special share grants rights to QatarEnergy as 
described in its Article of Association. 
 
Special share may be transferred only to the Government, any Government Corporation or any QatarEnergy affiliate. All 
ordinary shares carry equal rights. 
 

17.  RESERVES 
 
(a) Legal reserve 
 
The Articles of Association of the Company states that prior to recommending any dividend for distribution to the 
Shareholders, the Board shall ensure proper reserves are established in respect of voluntary and statutory reserves 
considered by the Board to be necessary or appropriate.  
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17. RESERVES (CONTINUED)  
 
(b) General reserve 
 
The general reserve is maintained in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company to meet 
any unforeseen future events. The balance under this reserve is not available for distribution, except in the circumstances 
specified in the Articles of Association 
 
(c) Translation reserve 
 
The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 
of foreign operations. 
 
(d) Fair value reserve 
 
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of quoted debt securities, managed funds 
and unquoted investments. 
 

18. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Advances to employees 38,035 46,122 

Advances to suppliers 111,581 74,711 

 149,616 120,833 

 
19.  LOANS AND BORROWINGS 
 
 2023 2022 
   

Loans related to drilling segment (i) 4,380,446 4,358,044 

Loans related to aviation segment (ii) 26,384 10,011 

 4,406,830 4,368,055 

 
The movements of loans and borrowings were as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 
   
Balance at 1 January  4,368,055  4,366,861 
Borrowings obtained during the year  20,440  106,288 
Interest during the year  205,060  174,999 
Repaid during the year  (193,374) (285,259) 
Movement in unamortized finance costs  6,649   5,166  
Balance at 31 December  4,406,830     4,368,055 

 
Presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 
   
Non-current liabilities 4,138,728 2,633,625 

Current liabilities 268,102 1,734,430 

 4,406,830 4,368,055 

 
(i) These borrowings are related to the Group’s subsidiary, Gulf Drilling International (Qatari Private Shareholding 

Company) (“GDI”). GDI has entered into various borrowing arrangements with different banks. The facilities bear 
interest rate of 3.3% and QCB rate +0.6%.  Most of these loans are to be repaid in quarterly instalments. The loans 
obtained by GDI are unsecured.  
 
In March 2023, the Group renegotiated its existing loan facilities and obtained 2 new loan facilities of QR 4,132 
million from local banks. The loans will be repaid in 18 unequal annual instalments commencing from 2026 and a 
balloon payment of 35% upon maturity in 2048.  

 

The refinancing did not result in any extinguishment gain/loss. However, transaction cost of QR 21 million relating 
to the new facility was recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the year. 
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19. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)  
 
(ii) The borrowings are related to the Group’s subsidiary, Gulf Helicopters Company (Qatari Private Shareholding 

Company) (“GHC”). GHC had entered into a borrowing facility to finance the purchase of helicopters. The facility 
had an interest rate of 6 months LIBOR plus 1.35% - 2.75% (2022: LIBOR plus 1.35% - 2.75%). Subsequent to 30 
June 2023, the master agreement was amended to transition the reference rate from LIBOR to SOFR (Secured 
overnight financing rate) which is administered by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. The loan is to be repaid 
in bi-annual instalments, it is unsecured and does not have any financial covenants with an interest rate of SOFR + 
2.5% rate. The agreements have no covenants attached and also no change to the loan balance. The impact of change 
in benchmark to the interest expense is not material. 

 
The Group's loans are denominated in US Dollars. 

 
20.  PROVISION FOR DECOMMISSIONING COSTS 
 
 2023 2022 

   
Provision for decommissioning costs - 45,899 
 
The movement of provision for decommissioning costs is as follows: 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Balance at 1 January   45,899  45,669 
Provision made during the year   -  - 
Unwinding of provision for decommissioning costs 180 230 
Disposal of a subsidiary   (46,079) - 
Balance at 31 December - 45,899 

 
As per the contractual agreement with Qatar Energy (lessor), the Group has to return the leased facilities in their original 
condition at the end of the lease term. The Group has assessed its contracts and recognised provisions for the costs of 
dismantling, installations and restoring leased labour camps. The labour camps mainly consists of land, accommodation 
and common areas including offices, mess halls and other associated facilities. This provision relates to the Groups 
subsidiary Amwaj which was disposed of during the year. 
 

21.  PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEES' END OF SERVICE BENEFITS 
 

 2023 2022 
   
Balance at 1 January  112,028  101,259 

Provision made during the year  16,236  24,625 

Payments made during the year  (15,571) (13,856) 

Disposal of subsidiary  (32,025) - 

Balance at 31 December  80,668  112,028 
 

The provision for employees' end of service benefits is included in salaries and other benefits in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 

22.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Trade payables  387,865   290,773  

Accrued expenses  240,901   374,784  

Deposits   149   20,227  

Accrued social fund contribution  9,790   7,251  

  638,705   693,035  
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23. DIVIDENDS

The Board of Directors has proposed a final cash dividend of QR 0.15 per share amounting to QR 278.8 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: QR 185.8 million). The proposed final cash dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 
will be submitted for formal approval at the Annual General Meeting. 

During the period, the shareholders approved dividend amounting to QAR 0.10 per share. Below is the movement in 
dividends payable during the year: 

2023 2022 

Balance at 1 January  48,619  50,429 

Dividends declared during the year  185,841  -   

Dividends paid during the year  (187,381)  (1,810) 

Balance at 31 December  47,079  48,619 

24. RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES

The Group, in the ordinary course of business, carries out transactions with other business enterprises that fall within the 
definition of related parties as per International Accounting Standard (IAS) 24 "Related Party Disclosures".  

The balances with related parties as at the year-end and the transactions during the year, are disclosed as follows: 

(a) Transactions with related parties

Transaction with related parties during the year are as follows: 

2023 2022 
Name of the entity Relationship Revenue Expenses Revenue Expenses 

QatarEnergy Shareholder  1,070,393  30,659 1,161,408 46,409 
QatarGas Operating Company 
Limited 

Other related 
party  189,301  345 59,339 3,038 

Qatar Fuel Company (WOQOD) 
Q.P.S.C. 

Other related 
party  32,191  47,770 62,840 91,185 

Qatar Petrochemical Company 
(QAPCO) Q.P.J.S.C. 

Other related 
party  71,499 - 38,301 - 

Qatar Fertiliser Company 
(QAFCO) Q.P.S.C. 

Other related 
party  53,738  3,735 47,257 3,303 

Oryx GTL Limited 
Other related 

party  11,723 - 11,105 - 

North Oil Company 
Other related 

party  113,926 - 111,304 - 
Gulfdrill L.L.C. Joint venture  310,590 - 302,114 - 

Others 
Other related 

party  91,921  58,967 179,469 4,411 
 1,945,282  141,476 1,973,137 148,346 

(b) Due from related parties – Trade receivables

Relationship 2023 2022 

Name of the entity 

QatarEnergy Shareholder 257,658 205,273 

Oryx GTL Limited Other related party - 700 

Qatargas Operating Company Limited Other related party 128,410 126,226 

Gulfdrill L.L.C.  Joint venture 227,263 240,605 

Qatar Fuel Company (WOQOD) Q.P.S.C. Other related party - 16,881

North Oil Company Other related party 17,672 22,706 

Seef Limited Other related party - - 

Qatar Fertiliser Company (QAFCO) Q.P.S.C. Other related party - 24,801

Ras Laffan Olefins Limited Other related party - -

Gasal Q.S.C. Other related party - -

Others Other related party 5,647 34,027 

636,650 671,219 
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24.  RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 
(b)  Due from related parties – Trade receivables (continued) 
 
The above balances are of trading nature, bear no interest or securities and are receivable on due date as per respective 
contracts, which is less than 12 months from the reporting date. These balances also include accrued revenues which are 
not yet billed to customers at year end.  
 
(c)  Due to related parties – Trade payables 
 
 Relationship 2023 2022 
    

Name of the entity    

QatarEnergy Shareholder 8,590  9,636 

Amwaj Equity investee 19,691  - 

Qatar Fuel Company (WOQOD) Q.P.S.C. Other related party 5,215  7,354 

Others (1) Other related parties 3,490  3,905 

  36,986  20,895 

 
Other related parties represent entities controlled or jointly controlled by QatarEnergy (shareholder). 
 
(1) This includes balance pertaining to accruals of Board of Directors' retainer and attendance allowance. 
 
(2) Except (1), above balances are of trading nature, bear no interest or securities and are payable on demand. 
 
(d) Remuneration of key management personnel 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Board of Directors allowances  3,800  2,660 
Other key management personnel 20,850  27,757 
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25.  REVENUE 
 

25.1 REVENUE FROM CONTRACT WITH COSTUMERS  
 
The Group mainly generates revenue from the aviation, drilling, rig management and insurance and reinsurance services. 
 
(a) Revenues from contracts with customers 
 
In the following table, revenue from contracts with customers is disaggregated by primary major service lines and timing 
of revenue recognition. 
 
 2023 2022 
   
*Revenue from drilling and related services   
Drilling services  1,018,754    927,514   

Management services  310,590   302,822  

  1,329,344    1,230,336   

   
*Revenue from aviation services   

Transportation services 909,685 790,962 

Operation services 80,838 82,710 

Supply of spare parts  42,133 39,401 

Trainings services 2,591 2,379 

 1,035,247 915,452 

  2,364,591   2,145,788  

 
 

 2023 2022 
   
*Revenue by geographic locations   
Qatar 1,926,140  1,806,830 

Turkiye  301,547   231,467  

Others  136,904   107,491  

  2,364,591  2,145,788 

 
 *Management has further disaggregated revenue compared to the prior year to improve the presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
Unsatisfied long-term contracts 
 
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term contracts: 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to long-term contracts  
  that are partially or fully unsatisfied as at 31 December  2,070,710   3,103,183  

 
Management expects that 50% of the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations as of 31 December 
2023 will be recognised as revenue during the next reporting period (QAR 1.03 billion). The 42% (QAR 0.87 billion) will 
be recognised in the 2025 financial year and remaining 14% (QR 0.15 billion) will be recognised in the following years.  
 
All other contracts are for periods of one year or less or are billed based on time incurred. As permitted under IFRS 15, 
the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. 
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25.2 INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS  

 
25.2.1  Analysis by remaining coverage and incurred claims for reinsurance contracts 
 

  Year ended 31 December 2023    

 
Remaining coverage Incurred claims   

 

  Excluding loss 
component 

Loss recovery 
component 

Excluding RA for 
non-financial risk 

RA for non-
financial risk Total 

 

       
Reinsurance contracts held:            

Opening Reinsurance Contract Assets                     (711,896)                          2,964                    1,322,580                         54,798                       668,446   

            

Reinsurance Service expenses            

Reinsurance expense                     (661,393)                               -                                  -                                  -                        (661,393)  

Amounts recoverable for incurred claims and other expenses                                -                                  -                         196,879                         12,957                       209,836   

Loss-recovery on onerous underlying contracts and adjustments                               -                           17,702                                -                                  -                           17,702   

Changes to amounts recoverable for incurred claims                               -                                  -                         155,816                         61,189                       217,005   

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers for incurred claims                                -                           17,702                       352,695                         74,146                       444,543   

       

Net income or expense from reinsurance contracts held                     (661,393)                        17,702                       352,695                         74,146                      (216,850)  

Finance income from reinsurers contracts held  -     -     50,949   2,857   53,806   

Effect of changes in non-performance risk of reinsurers  -     -     990   -     990   

Total changes in the statement of income  (661,393)  17,702   404,634   77,003   (162,054)  

            

Cash flows            

Premiums paid net of ceding commissions and other directly 
attributable expenses paid 

                     521,692                                -                                  -                                  -                         521,692   

Recoveries from reinsurance                               -                                  -                        (252,418)                               -                        (252,418)  

Total cash flows  521,692   -     (252,418)  -     269,274   

Closing Reinsurance Contract Assets  (851,597)  20,666   1,474,796   131,801   775,666   
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25.2  INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS (CONTINUED) 
 

25.2.1  Analysis by remaining coverage and incurred claims for reinsurance contracts (continued) 

 
  Year ended 31 December 2022    

  Remaining coverage   Incurred claims  
 

 

Excluding loss 
component 

Loss recovery 
component 

Excluding RA for 
non-financial risk 

RA for non-
financial risk Total  

       
Reinsurance contracts held:       

Opening Reinsurance Contract Assets                     (555,292)                               -                      1,190,648                         42,545                       677,901   

            

Reinsurance Service expenses       

Reinsurance expense                     (501,488)                               -                                  -                                  -                        (501,488)  

Amounts recoverable for incurred claims and other expenses                                -                                  -                         334,600                         25,646                       360,246   

Loss-recovery on onerous underlying contracts and adjustments                               -                             2,964                                -                                  -                             2,964   

Changes to amounts recoverable for incurred claims                               -                                  -                           30,831                        (13,837)                        16,994   

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers for incurred claims                                -                             2,964                       365,431                         11,809                       380,204   

       

Net income or expense from reinsurance contracts held                     (501,488)                          2,964                       365,431                         11,809                      (121,284)  

Finance (expense) income from reinsurers contracts held                               -                                  -                          (20,289)                             444                        (19,845)  

Effect of changes in non-performance risk of reinsurers                               -                                  -                             1,345                                -                             1,345   

Total changes in the statement of income                     (501,488)                          2,964                       346,487                         12,253                      (139,784)  

       

Cash flows       

Premiums paid net of ceding commissions and other directly 
attributable expenses paid 

                     344,885                                -                                  -                                  -                         344,885   

Recoveries from reinsurance                               -                                  -                        (214,556)                               -                        (214,556)  

Total cash flows                      344,885                                -                        (214,556)                               -                         130,329   

Closing Reinsurance Contract Assets                     (711,895)                          2,964                    1,322,579                         54,798                       668,446   
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25.2  INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS (CONTINUED) 
 
25.2.2  Analysis by remaining coverage and incurred claims for insurance contracts 

 
 
 Year ended 31 December 2023    

 Liability for remaining coverage (LRC) Liability for incurred claims (LIC)   
 

  Excluding loss 
component Loss component 

Excluding RA for 
non-financial risk 

RA for non-financial 
risk Total 

 

 
          

 

Insurance contracts issued:            

Opening Insurance Contract Liabilities 113,532 6,047 879,467 80,659 1,079,705  

Insurance Revenue              (1,173,899)                               -                                  -                                  -                   (1,173,899)  

            

Insurance Service expenses            

Incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses                                -                                    -      393,095   21,324   414,419   

Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to the LIC                                -                                    -      288,808   76,119   364,927   

Losses (Reversal) of onerous contract                                -      46,884                                 -                                    -      46,884   

Insurance acquisition cash flows amortization  60,661                                 -                                    -                                    -      60,661   

Insurance Service expenses  60,661   46,884   681,903   97,443   886,891   

Insurance Service result   (1,113,238)  46,884   681,903   97,443   (287,008)  

Insurance finance expenses   -     -     40,857   4,057   44,914   

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI  (1,113,238)  46,884   722,760   101,500   (242,094)  

            

Cash flows            

Premiums received  1,237,595                                 -                                    -                                    -      1,237,595   

Claims and other directly attributable Expenses paid                                -                                    -      (774,957)                                -      (774,957)  

Insurance acquisition cash flows paid  (48,373)                                -                                    -                                    -      (48,373)  

Total cash flows  1,189,222   -     (774,957)  -     414,265   

Closing Insurance Contract Liabilities  189,516   52,931   827,270   182,159   1,251,876   
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25.2  INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS (CONTINUED) 
 
25.2.2  Analysis by remaining coverage and incurred claims for insurance contracts (continued) 

 
 
  Year ended 31 December 2022    

  Liability for remaining coverage (LRC)   Liability for incurred claims (LIC)   
 

 

Excluding loss 
component Loss component 

Excluding RA for 
non-financial risk 

RA for non-
financial risk Total  

  
      

Insurance contracts issued:            

 Opening Insurance Contract Liabilities   80,705   -     880,863   67,151   1,028,719   

 Insurance Revenue   (887,784)  -     -     -     (887,784)  
 

     
 

 Insurance Service expenses       
 

 Incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses    -       -      689,910   53,323   743,233   

 Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to the LIC    -       -      (114,158)  (40,369)  (154,527)  

 Losses (Reversal) of onerous contract    -      6,047    -       -      6,047   

 Insurance acquisition cash flows amortization   65,935    -       -       -      65,935   

 Insurance Service expenses   65,935   6,047   575,752   12,954   660,688   

 Insurance Service result    (821,849)  6,047   575,752   12,954   (227,096)  

 Insurance finance expenses    -     -     (7,891)  553   (7,338)  

 Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI   (821,849)  6,047   567,861   13,507   (234,434)  
            

 Cash flows       
 

 Premiums received   922,002                               -                                  -                                  -      922,002   

 Claims and other directly attributable Expenses paid                               -                                  -      (569,256)                              -      (569,256)  

 Insurance acquisition cash flows paid   (67,326)                              -                                  -                                  -      (67,326)  

 Total cash flows   854,676   -     (569,256)  -     285,420   

 Closing Insurance Contract Liabilities   113,532   6,047   879,468   80,658   1,079,705   
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26.  COST OF SALES 
 

 2023 2022 
   
Staff salaries and related costs  697,292   619,197  

Depreciation of machinery and equipment  346,593    343,643 

Depreciation of Right of Use assets  3,498   3,498  

Other Direct costs  715,401 668,514 

  1,762,784   1,634,852  
 

The cost of sales note has been disaggregated compared to prior year to improve the presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 

27.  OTHER INCOME 
 

 2023 2022 
   
Rental income 15,494 11,994 
Income tax benefit recognized pursuant to MOU  5,723 5,688 
Profit distribution from managed investment funds 1,655 3,652 
Dividend income 4,928 3,543 
Miscellaneous income 19,463 2,526 
 47,263 27,403 

 

28.  OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) – NET 
 

 2023 2022 
   
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) 17,896 23,949 
Miscellaneous 1,367 2,303 
 19,263 26,252 
 

This majorly includes net foreign exchange loss. 
 

29.  GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 

 2023 2022 
   
Salaries and other benefits 97,307 89,045 

Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 6.2) 4,645 3,830 

Legal and professional expenses 42,350 23,380 

Service fees 7,414 7,061 

Public relations and advertisement expenses 3,454 3,065 

Communication expenses 863 369 

Board of Directors' allowances 3,800 4,925 

Repairs and maintenance expenses 1,406 1,463 

Travel expenses 1,859 1,413 

Qatar Exchange and QCSD expense 1,024 1,008 

Printing and stationery expenses 331 501 

Miscellaneous expenses 28,095 30,053 

 192,548 166,113 

 
The Group incurred the below fees from the auditor of the Group (PricewaterhouseCoopers) for the year: 
 

 2023 
  
Audit fee 1,366 
Other assurance services  400 
Total recurring Group fees 1,766 
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30.  INCOME TAX 
 
In light of the provisions of the Qatar Income Tax Law No. 24 of 2018 and subsequent Executive Regulations, on 4 
February 2020, Qatar Energy (Shareholder), Ministry of Finance and the General Tax Authority (GTA) reached an 
agreement through a Memorandum of Understanding ("the MOU") which provided a mechanism for the settlement of 
the income tax liability of subsidiaries and joint ventures (included in the said MOU) of certain companies listed on Qatar 
Exchange. All four of the Group's local subsidiaries (Note 1) were included in the said MOU, according to which the income 
tax liability of the subsidiaries would ultimately be borne by Ministry of Finance. However, as per the MOU, the Groups 
income tax from the local subsidiaries will be settled by the Ministry of Finance. Further, as per subsequent clarifications 
received from GTA, the subsidiaries assessed that they are taxable only on the profits attributable to the foreign 
shareholders of the Group. 
 

 

31.  EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
Basic earnings per share has been calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by 
the adjusted weighted average number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the reporting period.  
 
The basic and diluted earnings per share are the same as there were no dilutive effects on earnings. 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Profit attributable to owners of the Group 391,785 302,312 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding at 

31 December (in shares) (Note 16) 1,858,408,690 1,858,408,690 
Basic and diluted earnings per share  

(expressed in QR per share) 0.211 0.163 

 

32.  COMMITMENTS 

 
Commitments  
 
 2023 2022 
   
Capital commitments (i) 730,212 703,624 

 
(i) These relates to the commitments for the acquisition of aircraft. 

 

33.  OPERATING SEGMENTS 
 
The Group has three reportable segments, as described below. The segments offer different services and are managed 
separately because they require different technology and marketing strategies and also incorporated as separate legal 
entities. For each of the segments, the Board of Directors reviews internal management reports on at least a quarterly 
basis. The following summary describes the operations of each reportable segment: 
 
Reportable segments Operations 
  

Insurance Provides insurance and reinsurance services in Qatar 
  

Aviation Provides helicopter transportation services throughout the Gulf Region, Libya, Turkey, 
Morocco, and India. The aviation segment includes the information relating to Gulf 
Helicopters Company and its subsidiaries and joint ventures. 

  

Drilling Provides drilling and ancillary services in Qatar. 
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33.  OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

For the year ended and as at 31 December 2023 Insurance Aviation Drilling 

Amwaj 
Equity 

Accounting - 
Catering 

Discontinued 
operations 

Head office 
and 

Intercompany 
elimination Total 

        

Timing of revenue recognition        

At a point in time  -   42,133   -  - - -  42,133  

Over time  -   993,114   1,329,344  - - -  2,322,458  

Insurance revenue  1,173,899   -   -  - - -  1,173,899  

Segment revenue  1,173,899   1,035,247   1,329,344  - - -  3,538,490  

Inter-segment revenue  -     -     -    - - -  -    

External revenues   1,173,899   1,035,247   1,329,344  - - - 3,538,490 

        
Segment profit before tax  102,657   343,461   (37,874)  4,896   (24,237)  11,793   400,696  

Adjusted EBITDA  75,208   415,185   416,057  -  -     (349)  906,101  

Finance income  31,794   11,810   189  -  -   26,643   70,436  

Finance costs  -     (1,441)  (203,821) -  -   -     (205,262) 

Depreciation and amortization  (4,345)  (82,093)  (250,299) -  -   (14,501)  (351,238) 

Cost of sales  (1,103,743)  (627,952)  (1,126,104) -  -   (5,469)  (2,863,268) 

General and administrative expenses  (32,824)  (66,734)  (71,939) -  -   (21,051)  (192,548) 

Other Income  6,588   13,076   16,905  -  -   10,694   47,263  

Other gains/(losses) – net  -     (17,142)  (1,369) -  -   (752)  (19,263) 

Income tax expense  (2,380)  (6,701)  -    -  -   -   (9,081) 

Other material non-cash items:        

Provision of impairment losses on financial assets  119   (1,460)  -    -  -   -     (1,341) 

Impairment loss on property and equipment  -   -     (2,202) -  -   -   (2,202) 

Other information        

Share of results and impairment losses from equity 
accounted investees  

 -     981   18,921   4,896  -  -     24,798  

Investments in equity accounted investees  -     8,679   31,854     349,519   390,052  

(b) Adjusted EBITDA    -    

Adjusted EBITDA reconciles to operating profit before  
  income tax as follows:    

 
   

Total Adjusted EBITDA  75,208   415,185   416,057  -  -     (349)  906,101  

Finance income  31,794   11,810   189  -  -   26,643   70,436  

Finance costs  -     (1,441)  (203,821) -  -   -     (205,262) 

Depreciation and amortisation  (4,345)  (82,093)  (250,299) -  -   (14,501)  (351,238) 

      -    
Profit before income tax from continuing 
operations 

 102,657   343,461   (37,874) -  -   11,793   420,037  
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33.  OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

For the year ended and as at 31 December 2022 Insurance Aviation Drilling 

Amwaj Equity 
Accounting - 

Catering 
Discontinued 

operations 

Head office and 
Intercompany 

elimination Total 
        
        
Timing of revenue recognition        

At a point in time  -   39,401   -  - - -  39,401  

Over time  -   876,051   1,284,935   -   -   -   2,160,986  

Insurance revenue  887,784   -   -   -   -   -   887,784  

Segment revenue  887,784   915,452   1,284,935   -     -     -     3,088,171  

Inter-segment revenue  -     (1,610)  (52,989)  -     -     -     (54,599) 

External revenues 887,784 913,842  1,231,946   -     -     -    3,033,572 

        
Segment profit before tax  71,174   309,517   (89,996) - 726   24,691   316,112  

Adjusted EBITDA  56,966   386,184   369,056  - -  26,378   838,584  

Finance income  17,818   6,379   1,185  - -  10,435   35,817  

Finance costs  -     (833)  (179,445) - -  (98)  (180,376) 

Depreciation and amortisation  (3,610)  (82,213)  (280,792) - -  (12,024)  (378,639) 

Cost of sales  (781,973)  (540,944)  (1,137,597) - -  43,689   (2,416,825) 

General and administrative expenses  (63,877)  (48,095)  (73,928) - -  19,787   (166,113) 

Other Income  19,303   8,275   2,523  - -  (2,698)  27,403  

Other gains/(losses) – net  -     (23,948)  (602)    (1,702)  (26,252) 

Income tax expense  (867)  (13,047)  -    - - - (13,914) 

Other material non-cash items:        

Provision of impairment losses on financial assets  3,353   -   -    - - -  3,353  

Impairment loss on property and equipment  -     (2,202)  -    - - -  (2,202) 

Other information        

Share of results and impairment losses from equity 
accounted investees  

 -     4,643   12,934  
- - - 

 17,577  

Investments in equity accounted investees  -     15,155   12,933  - - -  28,088  

(b) Adjusted EBITDA        

Adjusted EBITDA reconciles to operating profit before 
income tax as follows:    

 
   

Total Adjusted EBITDA  56,966   386,184   369,056  -  -     26,378   838,584  

Finance income  17,818   6,379   1,185  -  -   10,435   35,817  

Finance costs  -     (833)  (179,445) -  -   (98)  (180,376) 

Depreciation and amortisation  (3,610)  (82,213)  (280,792) -  -   (12,024)  (378,639) 

Profit before income tax from continuing 
operations 

 71,174   309,517   (89,996) -  -     24,691   315,386  
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34.  FINANCE COSTS 
 
34.1  FINANCE INCOME 

 
 2023 2022 
   
Interest income 70,436 35,817 
 70,436 35,817 

 

34.2  FINANCE COSTS 

 
 2023 2022 
   
Finance charges paid for lease liabilities 202  535  
Interest and finance charges paid/payable for financial liabilities not at fair 

value through profit or loss 205,060 
 

 179,841  
 205,262 180,376 

 
35.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS- FAIR VALUE 
 
The fair value of financial investments that are actively traded in organized financial markets is determined by reference 
to quoted market bid prices for assets and offer prices for liabilities at the close of business at the end of the reporting 
period.  
 
For financial instruments where there is no active market, the fair value is determined by using valuation techniques. 
Such techniques include using recent arm's length transactions, reference to the current market value of another 
instrument which is substantially the same and/or discounted cash flow analysis. For discounted cash flow techniques, 
estimated future cash flows are based on management's best estimates and the discount rate used is a market related rate 
for a similar instrument.  
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The carrying value of the financial assets and liabilities approximates their 
fair values. The estimated fair values of the Group's major financial instruments are provided in the tables below: 
 
 

 FVTPL FVOCI 
Amortized 

cost 
Total 

Carrying value 
Fair 

value 
      

31 December 2023      

Assets      

Cash and bank balances - - 577,186 577,186 577,186 

Short-term investments - - 718,793 718,793 718,793 

Trade and other receivables - - 870,544 870,544 870,544 

Financial investments 469,343 367,949 - 837,292 837,292 

 469,343 367,949 2,166,523 3,003,815 3,003,815 

      

Liabilities      

Loans and borrowings - - 4,406,830 4,406,830 4,406,830 

Trade and other payables - - 638,705 638,705 638,705 

Dividends payable - - 47,079 47,079 47,079 

 - - 5,092,614 5,092,614 5,092,614 
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35.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS– FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED) 
 
 

 FVTPL FVOCI 
Amortized 

cost 
Total 

Carrying value 
Fair 

value 
      

31 December 2022      

Assets      

Cash and bank balances - - 396,447 396,447 396,447 

Short-term investments - - 746,126 746,126 746,126 

Trade and other receivables - - 1,029,173 1,029,173 1,029,173 

Financial investments 438,185 306,592 - 744,777 744,777 

 438,185 306,592 2,171,746 2,916,523 2,916,523 

      

Liabilities      

Loans and borrowings - - 4,368,055 4,368,055 4,368,055 

Trade and other payables - - 693,035 693,035 693,035 

Dividends payable - - 48,619 48,619 48,619 

 - - 5,109,709 5,109,709 5,109,709 

 
Fair value hierarchy  
 
The fair value of financial instruments approximates their carrying values.  
 
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation 
technique:  
 
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  
 
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, 
either directly or indirectly.  
 
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that is not based on 
observable market data.  
 
At the reporting date, the Group held the following financial investments measured at fair value. 
 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
     
31 December 2023     

Assets measured at fair value     

Financial investments at FVTPL 469,343 - - 469,343 

Financial investments at FVOCI 367,949 - - 367,949 

 837,292 - - 837,292 

     

31 December 2022     

Assets measured at fair value     

Financial investments at FVTPL 438,185 - - 438,185 

Financial investments at FVOCI 306,589 - 3 306,592 

 744,774 - 3 744,777 

 
During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 
fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements. 
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36.  SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

This note provides certain information related to the Group 's unconsolidated financial position, and profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023 and its comparative year. The complete set 
of separate financial statements of the Group prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard 27 
'Separate Financial Statements' (IAS 27) are issued separately. This information is provided only to assist the Group in 
its reporting to the Qatar Financial Markets Authority (Internal Control Over Financial Reporting (“ICOFR”)). 
 

(a)  Separate statement of financial position 
 

 2023 2022 
   
ASSETS   
Non-current assets   
Furniture and fittings 114 72 
Investment property 225,300 227,092 
Financial investments 31,787 26,798 
Investment in associate 344,624 - 
Investments in subsidiaries 2,077,215 2,574,398 
Total non-current assets 2,679,040 2,828,360 
   
Current assets   
Trade and other receivables 12,548 10,517 
Other bank balances 47,079 48,619 
Short-term investments* 484,736  
Cash and cash equivalents* 13,675 356,973 
Total current assets 558,038 416,109 
TOTAL ASSETS 3,237,078 3,244,469 

 
 2023 2022 
   
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   

EQUITY   

Share capital 1,858,409 1,858,409 

Legal reserve 23,928 23,928 

Retained earnings 1,279,168 1,275,513 

Total equity 3,161,505 3,157,850 

   

LIABILITIES   

Current liabilities   

Dividends payable 47,079 48,619 

Trade and other payables  28,494  38,000 

Total current liabilities  75,573  86,619 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  3,237,078  3,244,469 
 

(b) Separate statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
 

 2023 2022 
   

Dividend income 263,115 188,890 

General and administrative expenses (25,361)                    (16,792) 

Other income 18,201 13,237 

Other expenses (752)                  (39,339) 

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (82,559) - 

Operating profit 172,644 145,996 

Finance income 26,642 10,434 

Finance costs -                           (97) 

Profit for the year 199,286 156,333 

Other comprehensive income - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 199,286 156,333 

   
Earnings per share   

Basic and diluted unconsolidated earnings per share (Qatari Riyal) 0.108 0.084 

Basic and diluted consolidated earnings per share (Qatari Riyal) 0.26 0.156 

* In the prior year short term investment with a maturity more than 90 days have been reclassified in a separate line 
item Short Term Investment, as these do not meet the criteria of cash and cash equivalents.  
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37.  RESTATEMENTS  
 
Management has re-evaluated the accounting treatment of certain transactions and balances recorded in the consolidated 
financial statements in the prior years to determine if such transactions and balances have been accounted for 
appropriately under IFRS Accounting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 
Summary of the effect of these restatements on the previously reported figures is as follows: 
 
1) Accounting for decommissioning provision: 
 
The Group currently records a decommissioning provision in respect of various plots of land leased from a related party. 
However, historically, the Group has recognized the decommissioning cost as an expense in profit or loss and the 
corresponding decommissioning provisions on the face of the statement of financial position. 
 
IFRS 16 - Leases (“IFRS 16”) requires a lessee should include the amount of expected decommissioning as part of right of 
use assets. 
 
During the year the Group has reassessed its accounting treatment and based on the requirements of IFRS 16 has 
recognized the decommissioning provision as part of right of use assets, the corresponding effect on the previous years 
has been adjusted in retained earnings. The right-of-use asset is depreciated in profit or loss over the term of the lease 
within cost of sales. 
 
2) Application of IAS 29: 
 
The Group has a subsidiary in Turkey and the functional currency of the subsidiary is Turkish Lira. As from 1 April 2022, 
the Turkish economy has been considered hyperinflationary based on the characteristics established by International 
Accounting Standard 29, 'Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies' ('IAS 29'). The Group applied IAS 29 for 
the first time in the interim period ended 30 June 2022. 
 
During the year, management reassessed the application of IAS 29 and noted the following: 
 
IAS 21- The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates- states that when amounts are translated into the currency of a 
non-hyperinflationary economy, comparative amounts shall be those that were presented as current year amounts in the 
relevant prior year financial statements (i.e. not adjusted for subsequent changes in the price level or subsequent changes 
in exchange rates). Further, International Accounting Standard IAS 29- Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies requires that the gain or loss on the net monetary position should be included in profit or loss. 

 
Consistent with the above requirements, management reassessed the application of IAS 29 during the year and restated 
prior period financial statements as follow: 
 

• Management has revisited and consequently updated the calculation for initial application of IAS 29 between the 
closing equity of the previous year and the opening equity of the current year. The Group has presented the 
resultant combined effect of restating in accordance with IAS 29 and translation according to IAS 21 as a net change 
in other comprehensive income (OCI) 

 
• The impact of the change in the consumer price index from the beginning of the first reporting period to the end 

of the reporting period for non-monetary assets and liabilities has been reflected as net monetary gain arising from 
hyperinflation in profit or loss instead of being recorded in retained earnings. 

 
• Furthermore, as a result of these changes, the Group has reflected the “Net (loss)/gain arising from hyperinflation” 

in the Statement of Profit or loss and other comprehensive income as part of the “Operating profit”. 
 
3) Reclassification of accrued interest to borrowings: 
 
In the prior years accrued interest was included within ‘trade and other payables’. Management of the Group has 
reclassified these balances from ‘trade and other payables’ to ‘loans and borrowings in order to reflect the nature of these 
balances and also to realign the accounting for loans and borrowings with amortised cost accounting. The comparatives 
of these balances have been reclassified accordingly. 
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37.  RESTATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4) Other reclassifications  

 
During the period, the Group performed an exercise to determine if the presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements is in accordance with IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”. This exercise resulted in reclassification 
of certain line items in the consolidated financial statements. The comparative figures have been reclassified in order to 
conform with the presentation for the current period. Such reclassifications did not have any impact on the previously 
reported equity and profits. 
 
a) Related party, contract assets and trade receivable/payable 
During the year, management has reclassified due from/due to related parties and contract assets (current) to be 
presented within trade and other receivables/payable in the consolidated statement of financial position as these were 
trading in nature. This change did not impact the comparative total assets, total liabilities, net assets or cash flows.  
 
b) Other current assets 
During the year, management has reclassified prepayments and advances to be presented separately from Trade and 
other receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position as the prepayments and advances are not financial 
assets. This change did not impact the comparative total assets, total liabilities, net assets or cash flows.  
 
c) Other bank balances  
During the year, management has reclassified restricted cash balances to be presented separately from Cash and cash 
equivalents balances in the consolidated statement of financial position as the amount represented restricted cash which 
does not meet the definition of cash and cash equivalents. This change did not impact the comparative total asset, total 
liabilities or net assets. Equally this did not affect the cash flow statement as the cash flow statement historically reconciled 
only cash and cash equivalents. 
 
d) Financial instruments  
During the year, management has restated the prior year fair value gains on investment securities at FVPL from “net gain 
on sale of financial investments” to the correct line item “Fair value gain on investment securities at fair value through 
profit or loss” shown separately. In addition, fair value gains on FVOCI debt investments recycled to profit or loss from 
other comprehensive income on disposal of the investments have been presented on a separate line in profit or loss. 
 
5) Recognition of deferred tax 

 
Management has recognised a previously omitted deferred tax liability during the year and restated the comparative 
figures in the consolidated statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. 
 
The effect of these restatements on the statement of financial position and the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income is summarised below: 
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37.  RESTATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Effect on the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022: 
 

 

 
Previously 
reported 

IFRS 17 

(Note 3.2) 
Restatement- 1 

Restatement-
2 

Restatement 

- 3 

Restatement 

- 4a 

Restatement 

- 4b 

Restatement 

- 4c 

 

Restatement 

- 5 

Restated 

           

Right-of-use assets 27,731 - 21,840 - - - - - - 49,571 

Due from related parties 759,940 (88,721) - - - (671,219) - - - - 

Trade and other 
receivables 799,656 (320,869) - - - 671,219 (120,833) - - 1,029,173 

Other current assets - - - - - - 120,833 - - 120,833 

Reinsurance contract 
assets 1,091,277 (422,831) - - - - - - - 668,446 

Other bank balances - - - - - - - 48,619 - 48,619 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 396,447 - - - - - - (48,619) - 347,828 

Foreign currency 
translation reserve (71,371) - - 44,293 - - - - 1,117 (25,961) 

Retained earnings 1,350,550 57,893 21,840 (44,293) - - - - (20,746) 1,365,244 

Deferred tax liabilities - - - - - - - - 19,629 19,629 

Loans and borrowings 1,655,607 - - - 78,823 - - - - 1,734,430 

Trade and other payables 1,046,056 (297,271) - - (78,823) 23,073 - - - 693,035 

Due to related parties 27,812 (4,739) - - - (23,073) - - - - 

Insurance contract 
liabilities 1,668,009 (588,304) - - - - - - - 1,079,705 

 
Effect on the consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 January 2022: 

 
 Previously 

reported 

IFRS 17 (Note 
3.2) 

Restatement- 1 
Restatement 

- 3 

Restatement 

- 4a 

Restatement 

- 4b 

Restatement 

- 4c 

Restatement 

- 5 
Restated 

          

Right-of-use assets 36,292 - 29,372 - - - - - 65,664 

Contract assets 6,514 - - - (6,514) - - - - 

Due from related parties 686,354 (8,839) - - (677,515) - - - - 

Trade and other receivables 694,994 (267,366) - - 684,029 (102,859) - - 1,008,798 

Other current assets - - - - - 102,859 - - 102,859 

Other bank balances - - - - - - 48,619 - 48,619 

Reinsurance contract assets 757,382 (79,481) - - - - - - 677,901 

Cash and cash equivalents 349,407 - - - - - (48,619) - 300,788 

Foreign currency translation 
reserve (55,836) - - - - - - 1,117 (54,719) 

Retained earnings 998,204 61,551 29,372 - - - - (11,913) 1,077,214 

Deferred tax liabilities - - - - - - - 10,796 10,796 

Loans and borrowings 632,704 - - 41,452 - - - - 674,156 

Trade and other payables 831,273 (221,696) - (41,452) 34,823 - - - 602,948 

Due to related parties 44,507 (9,684) - - (34,823) - - - - 

Insurance contract liabilities 1,214,575 (185,857) - - - - - - 1,028,718 
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37.  RESTATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Effect on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2022: 

 
Previously  

reported IFRS 17 (Note 3.2)  

Balances relating to 
Discontinued 

operations 
Restatement 

- 1 
Restatement 

- 2 
Restatement  

– 4(d) 
Restatement  

-5 Restated 

Revenue  3,665,539   (903,331)  (616,420)  -     -    - -  2,145,788  

Cost of sales  (2,992,875)  769,751   588,272   -     -    - -  (1,634,852) 

Gross profit from non- insurance operations  672,664   (133,580)  (28,148)  -     -    - -  510,936  

Insurance revenue  -     887,784   -     -     -    - -  887,784  

Insurance service expense  -     (660,689)  -     -     -    - -  (660,689) 

Net expense from reinsurance contracts held  -     (121,284)  -     -     -    - -  (121,284) 

Insurance service result  -     105,811   -     -     -    - -  105,811  

Gross profit and net insurance  service results             672,664              (27,769)              (28,148)                         -                            -    - -               616,747   

Finance (expense)/income from insurance contracts 
issued                                  -                            7,338                                   -                            -                            -    - -                         7,338  

Finance income/(expense) from reinsurance contracts 
held                                  -                       (18,500)                         -                            -                            -    - -                    (18,500) 

Net insurance finance income                      -             (11,162)                      -                         -                         -    - -         (11,162) 

Other income / (loss)             41,391            -               (866)                      -                         -    (13,122) -             27,403  

Other expenses            (61,647)             -                      -                         -                         -    35,395 -          (26,252) 

General and administrative expenses       (218,520)             31,759              20,648                       -                         -    - -         (166,113) 

Net gains on investments in debt securities measured 
at FVOCI reclassified to profit or loss on disposal                                  -                          -                                   -                                    -                                     -    3,529 -                       3,529  

Fair value gain on investment securities at fair value 
through profit or loss                                  -                       -                                  -                                     -                                     -    (25,897) -                    (25,897) 

Effect of gain on net monetary position IAS 29                     (11,411)                                  -                                     -                                     -                          32,171 - -                        20,760   

Net impairment (loss) / reversal on financial 
assets                           (776)                         3,513                               521                                   -                                     -    95 -                         3,353  

Operating profit         421,701  (3,659)         (7,845)                     -              32,171   - -          442,368 

         
Finance income            38,387                          -               (2,570)                        -                           -    - -             35,817  

Finance costs        (181,926)                         -                1,550                        -                           -    - - (180,376) 

Finance costs – net     (143,539)                    -             (1,020)                     -                        -    - -      (144,559) 

Share of net profits of equity accounted investees                      17,577                                  -                                     -                                     -                         -  - -                        17,577 

Profit before income tax 295,739 (3,659) (8,865) - 32,171 - - 315,386 

Income tax expense              (5,688)                         -                      608                           -                             -      (8,833)  (13,914) 

Profit for the year from continuing operation 290,050 (3,659) (8,257) - 32,171 - (8,833)  301,472  

(Loss) / Profit from discontinued operation 
(attributable to the shareholders of the Company)                  -                          -                                     8,257                          (7,531)                                  -    - -  726  

Profit for the year 290,050 (3,659) - (7,531) 32,171 - (8,833)  302,198  

         
Profit for the year attributable to:            
Shareholders of the Company 290,164 (3,659) - (7,531) 32,171 - (8,833) 302,312 

Non-controlling interests (114) - - - -  - (114) 

Net profit for the period 290,050 (3,659) - (7,531) 32,171 - (8,833) 302,198 
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37.  RESTATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Effect on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2022: 
 

 
Previously 
reported 

IFRS 17 (Note 3.2) 

Balances 
relating to 

Discontinued 
operations 

Restatement 

- 1 

Restatement 

- 2 

Restatement 

- 4(d) 
Restatement - 

5 

Restated 

         
Earnings per share         
Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing 
operations attributable to shareholders of the Company 0.156 (0.002) - (0.004) 0.013 - 

- 
0.163 

Basic and diluted earnings per share from discontinued 
operations attributable to shareholders of the Company (0.000) - - - - - 

- 
(0.000) 

Basic and diluted earnings per share from profit 
attributable to shareholders of the Company 0.156 (0.002) - (0.004) 0.013 - 

- 
0.163 

         
Other comprehensive income         
Financial investments at FVOCI - Change in FV (31,432) - - - - 3,529 - (27,903) 

Net foreign exchange difference on translation of 
foreign operations                  (15,535)    -                                  -                             -                       44,294                           - 

- 
                 28,759 

Net instruments at FVOCI reclasified to profit or 
loss - - - - - (3,529) 

- 
(3,529) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, 
net of tax (46,967) - - - 44,294 - 

- 
(2,673) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 243,083 (3,659) - (7,531) 76,465 - (8,833) 299,525 

         
Total comprehensive income / (loss) 
attributable to:       

- 

 
Owners of the Company 243,197 (3,659) - (7,531) 76,465 - (8,833) 299,639 

Non-controlling interests (114) - - - - - - (114) 

Total 243,083 (3,659) - (7,531) 76,465 - (8,833) 299,525  

         
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the 
period attributable to shareholders of the 
Company arises from:       

 

 
Continuing operations 242,358 - - - 76,465 - (8,833)         298,799 

Discontinued operations 725 - - (7,531) - - - 726 

 243,083 - - - 76,465 - (8,833) 299,525 

 
The above restatements had no impact on operating, investing, or financing cash flows in aggregate. 
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